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Versatility
To be able to adapt to changing 
environments, always staying ahead 
of the curve and inspiring creativity.

Integrity
To uphold the values of integrity and 
honesty, conducting our affairs in a 
manner consistent with the highest 
ethical and professional standards.

Care
For all our stakeholders:
•	 Our customers by putting their 

needs and requirements first
•	 Our business partners and regulators 

by keeping lines of communication 
open at all times

•	 Our staff by fostering a safe and 
conducive environment for growth 
and development

•	 Our community by enhancing the 
welfare of those in need

WE ASPIRE 
TO BE THE 
PREFERRED 
PROVIDER OF 
INSPECTION 
AND TESTING 
SERVICES

OUR VISION

OUR CORE VALUES

To enable safer and greener motoring and provide professional testing services 
to our customers.

OUR MISSION

Ownership
Of all that we do – by pursuing 
professionalism, excellence and ensuring 
responsibility for all our actions.

Meritocracy
To be fair and objective, always 
recognising and rewarding 
good performance.

VICOM Ltd

WARNING

!

WARNING

!
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Introduction
On 23 March 2015, the Nation mourned the passing of our Founding Father and First Prime 
Minister, Mr Lee Kuan Yew. It was due entirely to him that our Company, VICOM Ltd, was 
established in 1981. The late Mr Lee actively advocated a clean air environment well before 
the world was concerned with the present climate change issue. He wanted the pollution from 
vehicles to be controlled and contained. He introduced legislation to ensure that vehicles were 
compulsorily inspected. The clean air that we have become so used to is his legacy and one that 
we should never take for granted. Indeed, the very bad haze episode in 2015 is a stark reminder of 
what and how disruptive the effects of pollution are to daily life. 

Our Business
2015 was a very challenging year. Despite this, VICOM produced a respectable set of results while 
reinforcing our position as Singapore’s premier vehicle inspection and testing centre. 

Demand for car inspections continued to be heavily influenced by Certificate of Entitlement (COE) 
premiums which remained high in 2015. With many motorists opting to either keep their cars 
to the end of their 10 year statutory lifespans or extend the COEs for another 10 years, demand 
for vehicle inspection services held its own during the year – despite an increase in the number 
of de- registrations. 

In all, 522,140 vehicles were inspected at our seven inspection centres, a slight increase as 
compared to the previous year. 

In the bid to retain and secure more customers, VICOM launched various value-added 
programmes for our customers including a successful tie-up with Diners Card which helped us to 
increase our market share. In the long run, it will also help us to retain more customers as it is a 
Loyalty Card that enables customers to enjoy discounts whenever they return to VICOM for their 
vehicle inspection needs.

522,140
vehicles inspected 
at VICOM’s seven 
inspection centres

14
more Automated 
Payment Machines 
introduced

SETSCO obtained

ISO 50001
certification on 
Electrical Energy 
Management of 
Laboratory Operation

Net profit 
attributable to 
shareholders grew 
by 4.2% to

$31.4 MILLION
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VICOM continued to tap on technology 
advances to raise productivity and 
increase efficiency. In August 2015, 14 
more Automated Payment Machines 
(APMs) were introduced at all our 
inspection centres, thereby increasing 
the number of cashier points from 10 to 
24. As a result, the average queue time 
for payment was reduced. 

Non-vehicle inspection and testing 
services under Setsco Services Pte 
Ltd (SETSCO) experienced a drop in 
demand for its services amidst the 
global economic slowdown. This 
was especially so for the marine and 
offshore industries. 

Despite the economic slowdown, 
SETSCO continued to invest in new 
technologies and services. For example, 
it invested in safer radiographic 
inspection equipment and daylight 
reflectance equipment to cater to 
demands from the construction industry. 

As a result of its commitment to 
excellence, SETSCO was involved in 
several high profile projects including 
the Flame Towers in Baku, Azerbaijan, 
the Four Seasons Hotel in Abu Dhabi 
and the Putrajaya Dam in neighbouring 
Malaysia. It was also involved in 
two major glass inspection projects 
in Singapore. 

In 2015, SETSCO successfully obtained 
the ISO 50001 certification on Electrical 
Energy Management of Laboratory 
Operation and received the Silver Award 
for the Singapore HEALTH (Helping 
Employees Achieve Life-Time Health) 
Award which is presented by the Health 
Promotion Board. 

Corporate Social Responsibility
VICOM remained committed to 
sustainability during the year. 

In terms of reaching out to the 
community, it was involved in several 
projects including raising funds for the 
sick, the elderly and the young.

In 2015, SETSCO continued to organise 
various safety orientation training 
and courses for its staff to equip them 
with skills such as first-aid, forklift 
driving, risk management and working 
at heights. Additionally, SETSCO was 
recertified with the OHSAS ISO 18001 
by Certification International after 
undergoing its yearly surveillance audit. 

Financial Results
Group revenue decreased by 1.3% 
or $1.5 million to $106.7 million in 
2015 while net profit attributable 
to shareholders grew by 4.2% or 
$1.3 million to $31.4 million. Earnings 
per ordinary share was 35.45 cents, 
up from 34.02 cents a year ago.

Net asset value per ordinary share was 
$1.65 compared to $1.57 previously.

The Board has recommended a one-tier 
tax-exempt final dividend of 9.50 cents 
per ordinary share and a one-tier tax-
exempt special dividend of 10.25 cents 
per ordinary share to be approved at the 
Annual General Meeting to be convened 
on 26 April 2016. Together with the 
one-tier tax-exempt interim dividend of 
8.75 cents per ordinary share paid earlier, 
the total dividend of 28.50 cents per 
ordinary share for the year is higher than 
the 2014 figure of 27.00 cents, a rise of 
5.6%. It represents about 80.4% of the 
Group’s profit after tax and is better 
than our declared dividend policy of 50% 
and 2014’s 79.4%.

Rankings
Out of the 639 listed companies 
covered in the annual Business Times 
Governance and Transparency Index, we 
ranked 38th. VICOM out-performed the 
FTSE ST All-Share Index by 9.9% points. It 
also out-performed the FTSE ST Mid-Cap 
Index by 7.0% points. 

On 8 July 2015, VICOM won the Best 
Investor Relations Award (Bronze) 
(Mid-cap) at the Singapore Corporate 
Awards 2015.

REMEMBERING 
LEE KUAN YEW

“Anti-pollution came 
directly under me. It 
started off as part of the 
Prime Minister’s Office. I 
created that unit….Then 
in my travels, I watched 
what other countries 
were doing…For instance, 
I was in Boston in 1970. 
There, I saw cars all lining 
up at garages. I asked, 
‘Why are they lining up 
at the garage?’ and they 
said, ‘Once a year, you 
must have a garage to 
certify that your car is 
up to certain standards, 
the emission, the brakes, 
etc., or you can’t renew 
your licence.’ I thought, 
why don’t we have such 
a rule? Ours, you just 
wait until the car breaks 
down. When I came back, 
I said, ‘Look into this.’ 
So we started VICOM 
[Singapore’s first vehicle 
inspection company].” 

 – Mr Lee Kuan Yew, extracted 
from Lee Kuan Yew: The Man 
and His Ideas, published by 
Marshall Cavendish Editions 
and SPH, © 1998, 2015.
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The Year Ahead
Demand for the vehicle inspection 
service is projected to slow as more 
vehicles are de-registered in 2016. 

Significantly, we expect to welcome our 
10 millionth vehicle inspection in 2016 
and intend to mark this milestone with 
some fanfare.

For SETSCO, challenges posed by the 
slowing global economy will remain 
but we will continue to look for new 
opportunities for growth.

Appreciation
I wish to thank Mr Sim Wing Yew, the 
Executive Director and Chief Executive 
Officer for his leadership in managing 
the Group. I also wish to express my 
appreciation to the Management and 
Staff for their fortitude and tenacity in 
the face of challenges.

To my fellow Directors, I am very 
thankful for their efforts in guiding 
the Board. 

To our Clients, thank you for your 
continued support. We will continue to 
work hard to serve you better. 

To our Business Associates, Union 
Leaders and the Authorities, thank you 
for your partnership and support.

And finally, to our Shareholders, thank 
you for your continued confidence and 
trust in us. 

Lim Jit Poh
Chairman	
March 2016

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Net Asset Value Per Ordinary Share
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Financial Summary

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Revenue ($'mil)  90.7  97.1  105.0  108.2  106.7 
Operating expenses ($'mil)  60.7  65.3  71.0  72.6  70.3 
Operating profit ($'mil)  30.0  31.8  34.0  35.6  36.4 
Profit attributable to 

shareholders ($'mil)  25.1  26.4  28.4  30.1  31.4 
EBITDA ($'mil)  35.2  37.5  39.8  41.6  42.5 
Issued capital ($'mil)  34.4  35.2  35.9  36.2  36.2 
Capital and reserves ($'mil)  105.5  116.5  129.1  138.9  146.3 
Capital disbursement ($'mil)  12.2  4.6  3.9  5.1  3.7 
Internal funds generated ($'mil)  35.4  37.6  40.0  41.9  43.2 
Earnings per ordinary share (cents)  28.7  30.0  32.2  34.0  35.5 
Net asset value per 

ordinary share (cents)  120.0  132.1  145.9  156.7  165.0 
Return on shareholders' equity (%)  25.4  23.8  23.2  22.5  22.0 
Total dividend per 

ordinary share (cents)  17.6  18.2  22.5  27.0  28.5 
Dividend cover (number of times)  1.6  1.6  1.4  1.3  1.2 

Value-Added For The Group

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
$’000  % $’000  % $’000  % $’000  % $’000  %

Suppliers of capital 	
- dividends 15,059  19.9 16,498  20.6 16,971  19.7 21,055  23.5 24,379  27.1 

Taxation to the government 5,107 6.8 5,780  7.2 6,108  7.1 6,255  7.0 6,291  7.0 
Retained earnings 15,666 20.7 15,936  20.0 17,575  20.5 15,164  16.9 13,255  14.8 
Employees 	

- salaries and other staff costs 39,763 52.6 41,709  52.2 45,256  52.7 47,078  52.6 45,916  51.1 
Total value-added 75,595  100.0 79,923  100.0 85,910  100.0 89,552  100.0 89,841  100.0 
Value-added per employee 

($’000) 90 91 93 100 103

GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

LIM JIT POH
chairman (non-executive & non-independent)

Mr Lim Jit Poh was appointed non-executive Director on 
21 January 1981 and Chairman of VICOM Ltd in 1985. He is a 
non-independent Director of the Company. He is a member 
of both the Nominating Committee and Remuneration 
Committee. Mr Lim is also the Chairman of ComfortDelGro 
Corporation Limited, SBS Transit Ltd and Ascott Residence 
Trust Management Limited. These are listed companies with 
business interest in land transport, inspection and testing 
services and hospitality trust. Mr Lim is also the Chairman of 
several non-listed companies owned by the Singapore Labour 
Foundation and the National Trades Union Congress (NTUC).

Mr Lim was a former top civil servant and a Fulbright Scholar. 
He was awarded the Public Administration Medal in 1972 and 
the Public Service Star (BBM) in 2015 by the President of the 
Republic of Singapore, as well as four awards by NTUC, namely 
the Friend of Labour Award in 1986, the Meritorious Service 
Award in 1990, the Distinguished Service Award in 2000 and 
the Distinguished Service (Star) Award in 2014. In 2006, he was 
also one of the recipients of the Distinguished Science Alumni 
Award from the National University of Singapore. 

In his previous employment as Executive Director of two 
public-listed companies, Mr Lim had been directly involved in 
negotiations with business partners and relevant authorities 
on various joint venture projects in the ASEAN region, as well 
as in China, Hong Kong, the United Kingdom, Australia and 
Mauritius. He was also involved in the management of these 
operations. Mr Lim was a Council Member of the Singapore 
Chinese Chamber of Commerce and Industry and the National 
University of Singapore, and a Member of the Singapore 
British Business Council. He was also very active in community 
work being Chairman of a community centre management 
committee. Presently, he is a Trustee of the Singapore 
National Employers’ Federation and a Member of the Board of 
Management of Pei Chun Public School.

Mr Lim holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons) in Physics from the 
University of Singapore and a Master of Education from the 
University of Oregon, USA.

Date of last re-appointment as Director: 21 April 2015

KUA HONG PAK
deputy chairman (non-executive & non-independent) 

Mr Kua Hong Pak was appointed non-executive Director 
and Deputy Chairman of VICOM Ltd on 1 May 2003. He 
is a non-independent Director of the Company. Mr Kua is 
presently the Managing Director/Group Chief Executive 
Officer of ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited and Deputy 
Chairman of SBS Transit Ltd. Prior to this, he was the President/
Chief Executive Officer of Times Publishing Limited, where 
he managed its Singapore and overseas operations in the 
United States, United Kingdom, China, Japan, Hong Kong 
and Australia.

Mr Kua also serves on the boards of Temasek Holdings (Private) 
Limited, PSA International Pte Ltd and PSA Corporation 
Limited. He is also an Honorary Citizen of Shenyang City, China. 
In recognition of his contributions to community service, 
he was awarded the Public Service Medal in 1991 and the 
Public Service Star in 1996 by the President of the Republic of 
Singapore and re-appointed a Justice of the Peace in 2015. He 
was awarded the Medal of Commendation in 2005 and the 
Medal of Commendation (Gold) in 2010 by the National Trades 
Union Congress.

Mr Kua holds a Bachelor of Accountancy from the University of 
Singapore and is a Fellow of the United Nations Asian Institute. 
He also attended the Advanced Management Programme at 
the Harvard Business School.

Date of last re-appointment as Director: 21 April 2015
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Mr Sim Wing Yew was appointed Chief Executive Officer and 
Director of VICOM Ltd on 1 May 2012. He is a non-independent 
Director of the Company. Prior to this appointment, he was 
Chief Operating Officer of ComfortDelGro Engineering Pte Ltd 
since August 2008 before assuming the role as Chief Executive 
Officer on 1 March 2011. Mr Sim first joined the Group in 
September 2002 as a General Manager in charge of two 
maintenance workshops in SBS Transit Ltd’s Fleet Management 
Department. In June 2006, he assumed responsibility as the 
General Manager for all five SBS Transit’s workshops.

Mr Sim holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) in Mechanical 
and Production Engineering from the Nanyang Technological 
University and a Master of Business Administration from the 
University of Hull, United Kingdom.

Date of last re-election as Director: 24 April 2013

Mr Goh Yeow Tin was appointed a non-executive Director 
on 1 September 2010. He is an independent Director of the 
Company and was appointed Lead Independent Director on 
1 January 2013. Mr Goh is the Chairman of both the Audit 
and Risk Committee and Nominating Committee. Mr Goh 
is also a Member of the Singapore Institute of Directors, an 
independent Director of Lereno Bio-Chem Ltd, Sheng Siong 
Group Ltd, AsiaPhos Limited and TLV Holdings Limited, and 
an Executive Director of Singapore Post Limited. Prior to that, 
Mr Goh was the Vice President of Times Publishing Ltd and was 
responsible for the Group’s Retail and Distribution businesses. 
Mr Goh began his career with the Economic Development 
Board (EDB) where he headed the Local Industries Unit and 
was subsequently appointed as a Director of EDB’s Automation 
Applications Centre located in the Singapore Science Park. 
Mr Goh was the founding member of the Association of Small 
and Medium Enterprise (ASME) and founded International 
Franchise Pte Ltd, a pioneer in franchising business in 
Singapore. Mr Goh was previously the Deputy Managing 
Director of Tonhow Industries Ltd, the first SESDAQ listed 
plastic injection moulding company. In recognition of his many 
years of social and community services, Mr Goh was awarded 
the Public Service Star (Bar) in 2015 and appointed a Justice of 
the Peace in September 2015.

Mr Goh holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Mechanical) (Hons) 
from the University of Singapore and a Master of Engineering 
(Industrial Engineering & Management) from the Asian 
Institute of Technology.

Date of last re-election as Director: 21 April 2015

SIM WING YEW
chief executive officer & director

GOH YEOW TIN
director (non-executive & lead independent)
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Dr Ho Kah Leong was appointed a non-executive Director on 
1 May 2003. He is an independent Director of the Company. 
Dr Ho is a member of both the Audit and Risk Committee 
and Remuneration Committee. He is also a Director of Fuxing 
China Group Ltd, KOP Ltd and Ang Mo Kio – Thye Hua Kwan 
Hospital Ltd.

Dr Ho was formerly the Senior Parliamentary Secretary to the 
Minister for the Environment from 1994 to 1997. From 1997 to 
2003, he was the Principal of Nanyang Academy of Fine Arts.

As an accomplished artist who has held numerous 
exhibitions of his works, Dr Ho is the President of the 
Singapore Arts Federation.

Dr Ho holds a Bachelor of Science from the Nanyang University 
in Singapore. In 2001, he was conferred Honorary Doctorate by 
Wisconsin International University, USA.

Date of last re-appointment as Director: 21 April 2015

HO KAH LEONG
director (non-executive & independent)

Mr Ong Teong Wan was appointed a non-executive Director on 
29 July 1983. He is an independent Director of the Company. 
Mr Ong is a member of both the Audit and Risk Committee 
and Nominating Committee. Mr Ong had been the Consulting 
Partner at the Singapore Institute of Management from 
1984 to 2010. He is a Director and Managing Consultant 
of ManagementWise (International) Pte Ltd. He is a Lead 
Independent Director of Lion Teck Chiang Ltd and the Chairman 
of its Audit Committee and Nominating Committee. 

Mr Ong was awarded the Friend of Labour Award in 1991 
by the National Trades Union Congress and is a Fellow of 
the Singapore Human Resource Institute. He was a Board 
Member of the Economic Development Board and the National 
Productivity Board.	

He was in government service for 12 years and worked for 
two American multi-national companies for 12 years. Prior 
to joining the Singapore Institute of Management, he was 
Group Director (Personnel) for the Union Carbide Group 
of Companies in Singapore and Area Training Manager of 
NS Electronics (SEA).

Mr Ong holds a Bachelor of Arts in Economics/Geography and 
a post-graduate Diploma in Education from the University 
of Malaya in Singapore. He also undertook post-graduate 
education studies in Teacher Training at Oxford University and 
completed a Master of Business Administration in International 
Business from the University of Southern California.

Date of last re-appointment as Director: 21 April 2015

ONG TEONG WAN
director (non-executive & independent)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Mr Sim Cheok Lim was appointed a non-executive Director 
on 11 September 1984. He is an independent Director of 
the Company. Mr Sim is a member of both the Nominating 
Committee and Remuneration Committee. In public service, 
he was Singapore’s Ambassador (non-resident) to Kazakhstan 
till 2014 and was Ambassador to Uzbekistan from 1999 to 
2011. Mr Sim was previously the Chairman of Commercial 
& Industrial Security Corporation (CISCO) from 1994 to 
2002, and Chairman/Director of several of its subsidiary 
companies. He was also the Marketing Director of Shell Eastern 
Petroleum (Pte) Ltd from 1987 to 1994, a Director of Keppel 
Transportation and Telecommunications Ltd from 1989 to 
2003 and Boardroom Limited from 2000 to 2014.

Mr Sim was awarded the Friend of Labour Award in 1991 by 
the National Trades Union Congress and conferred the Public 
Service Medal in 1998, Public Service Star in 2003 and Public 
Service Star (Bar) in 2013 by the President of the Republic 
of Singapore.

Mr Sim holds a Bachelor of Engineering (First Class Honours) 
degree from the University of Adelaide, Australia and a 
Diploma in Competitive Strategic Marketing from the 
University of California Berkeley.

Date of last re-appointment as Director: 21 April 2015

Ms Teo Geok Har, Nancy was appointed a non-executive 
Director on 31 March 1995. She is an independent Director of 
the Company. Ms Teo is the Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and a member of the Audit and Risk Committee. 
She was formerly the Chief Executive Officer of the Singapore 
Labour Foundation, a position she held from 1 July 1994 to 31 
December 2006. She is also a Director of Dashmesh Singapore 
Pte Ltd. Since 1 February 2009, she has been appointed by 
the Singapore Association of Social Workers as the Head of 
Accreditation. She has also been appointed the Programme 
Director on 1 July 2015. 

Ms Teo holds a Bachelor of Social Science (Hons) and a Bachelor 
of Arts, both from the University of Singapore. She attended 
the Advanced Management Programme at the Wharton School 
of Business, University of Pennsylvania, USA.

Date of last re-election as Director: 23 April 2014

SIM CHEOK LIM
director (non-executive & independent)

TEO GEOK HAR, NANCY
director (non-executive & independent)
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SZE THIAM SIONG
senior vice president/director, 
setsco services pte ltd
Mr Sze Thiam Siong is responsible 
for the overall management of the 
Setsco Group. He joined the former 
Singapore Institute of Standards and 
Research (SISIR) in 1980 and was 
appointed Technical Manager of one 
of its subsidiary firms, Setsco Services 
Pte Ltd, in 1985. He was subsequently 
promoted to his present position 
in 1989. Mr Sze holds a Bachelor of 
Engineering (Mechanical) from the 
University of Strathclyde (UK), and a 
Diploma in Management Studies from 
the Singapore Institute of Management. 
He also sits in various committees in the 
governmental and non-governmental as 
well as professional bodies.

LEE PECK KIM, MARY
vice president (special grade), 
finance
Ms Lee Peck Kim, Mary is responsible 
for the Group’s finance and accounting 
functions. She is an ACCA qualified 
accountant and holds an MBA in 
Finance from the University of Hull, 
United Kingdom. She is also a Chartered 
Accountant of the Institute of Singapore 
Chartered Accountants.

Prior to her current appointment on 
2 July 2012, Ms Lee was the Head of 
Finance at ComfortDelGro Engineering 
Pte Ltd. She brings with her many 
years of experience in the Group as 
well as experience in other listed 
and multinational companies in 
various industries.

LEE SWEET CHOONG, 
ELIZABETH
vice president (special grade), 
biological and chemical 
technology division, 
setsco services pte ltd
Ms Lee Sweet Choong, Elizabeth 
oversees the daily operations of the 
Biological & Chemical Technology 
Division. She joined Setsco Services 
Pte Ltd in 1993 as a Chemist and was 
promoted to her present position 
in 2001. Ms Lee holds a Bachelor of 
Science (Biochemistry & Chemistry) 
and a Master of Science (Environmental 
Engineering), both from the National 
University of Singapore. She is also a 
Qualified Environmental Professional 
on the Board of Trustees of the 
Institute of Professional Environmental 
Practice, USA. 

YUSOOF AYNUDDIN
vice president (special grade), 
mechanical technology division, 
setsco services pte ltd
Mr Yusoof Aynuddin joined the 
Company in 1988 and is responsible 
for the overall management of the 
Mechanical Technology Division. He 
brings with him experience in a variety 
of testing services, including stress 
& strain analysis steel structures, 
calibration of instruments and 
metallographic examination. He 
graduated from Singapore Polytechnic 
with a Diploma in Mechanical 
Engineering and an Advanced Diploma 
in Industrial Engineering.

KEY MANAGEMENT

sze thiam siong yip chun wah

YIP CHUN WAH
vice president,  
operations
Mr Yip Chun Wah is responsible 
for the vehicle inspection business. 
He joined the Group in 1998 as a 
Project Engineer and was appointed 
Manager (Operations) in 2003. He was 
subsequently promoted to his current 
position in 2007. Mr Yip graduated 
from the Nanyang Technological 
University with a Bachelor of 
Mechanical Engineering and holds 
a Master of Science in Industrial & 
Systems Engineering from the National 
University of Singapore.

lee peck kim, mary yusoof aynuddinlee sweet choong, elizabeth
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CHUNG TYING CHUN
vice president, 
special projects
Mr Chung Tying Chun joined VICOM 
Ltd in 2013 and manages various 
organisation development, quality 
assurance and process improvement 
projects. He also oversees the related 
business to the vehicle inspection 
business. He started his career in the 
Singapore Armed Forces (SAF) where 
he held several senior command and 
staff appointments. Mr Chung holds a 
Master of Chemical Engineering (Hons) 
from University College, London and 
a Master of Business Administration 
(Strategy) from the National University 
of Singapore.

TAN SIAK HUAN
vice president,  
facility management & engineering
Mr Tan Siak Huan oversees the 
management and maintenance of the 
Group’s properties, facilities and test 
equipment. He joined the Group in 
2004. Prior to that, he worked in SingTel 
as a Facilities Manager. Mr Tan has 
more than 20 years of experience in 
the management and maintenance of 
properties and vehicle fleets. He holds 
a Diploma in Mechanical Engineering 
from the Singapore Polytechnic and a 
Certificate in Property Management 
and Maintenance from the Singapore 
Institute of Surveyors & Valuers.

EMSUHAIL MOHD AKIAK
assistant vice president, 
operations
Mr Emsuhail Mohd Akiak is responsible 
for the operation of VICOM Emission 
Test Laboratory (VETL), VICOM 
Evaluation Services (VFIT) and VICOM 
Assessment Centre (VAC). He joined 
the Company in 2000 as an Executive 
Engineer and was promoted to his 
current position in 2009. Mr Emsuhail 
holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) in 
Mechanical Engineering from Aberdeen 
University (UK).

TAN LI KOON, ANN
assistant vice president,  
sales & marketing 
Ms Tan Li Koon, Ann is responsible 
for the Group’s sales and marketing, 
motor insurance and customer service 
functions. She joined the Group in 
1998 as a Customer Service and Public 
Relations Officer and was promoted to 
her present position in 2009. Ms Tan 
holds an Advanced Diploma in Business 
from the University of Cambridge 
and has Certificates in General and 
Life Insurance.

tan li koon, anntan siak huanchung tying chun emsuhail mohd akiak
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TAN I-LIN, TAMMY
corporate communications officer, 
comfortdelgro group
Ms Tan I-Lin, Tammy is ComfortDelGro 
Corporation’s Group Communications 
Officer and Spokesperson for the Group, 
including VICOM Ltd. She is responsible 
for all corporate communications 
functions, including promoting the 
Group’s image, overseeing its various 
publications, coordinating requests for 
sponsorship and donations, and liaising 
with the media community. Ms Tan 
started her career with Singapore Press 
Holdings in 1995 and held several 
positions in The Straits Times, including 
Deputy Money Editor and Deputy News 
Editor. She holds a Bachelor of Social 
Sciences (Hons) from the National 
University of Singapore.

CHOO PENG YEN
investor relations and 
special projects officer, 
comfortdelgro group
Mr Choo Peng Yen is the Group Investor 
Relations and Special Projects Officer 
of ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited. 
He is responsible for the investor 
relations functions of the Group, 
including VICOM Ltd’s. He was the 
General Manager of the North East 
China Business Unit. Mr Choo joined the 
ComfortDelGro Group in 1978 and was 
Senior Vice President (Group Business 
Development) prior to his appointment 
in China. He holds a Bachelor of Business 
Administration from the University 
of Singapore and attended the 
International Executive Programme at 
INSEAD (France).

ONG POH SIM, MAY
internal audit officer, 
comfortdelgro group
Ms Ong Poh Sim, May is ComfortDelGro 
Corporation’s Group Internal Audit 
Officer. She is responsible for the 
internal audit functions of the Group, 
including VICOM Ltd’s. She joined the 
Group in 1981 as Internal Auditor 
and was subsequently appointed to 
head the Internal Audit Division. She 
holds a Bachelor of Accountancy from 
Nanyang University.

CHAN WAN TAK, WENDY
company secretary
Ms Chan Wan Tak, Wendy is the 
Company Secretary of VICOM Ltd. She 
also holds a similar appointment in 
ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited, 
which is VICOM’s parent company. She 
joined the Group in September 2007 
as Vice President of Group Finance. She 
is currently Senior Vice President of 
Group Finance. Prior to this, Ms Chan 
was Vice President of Finance and 
Operations at k1 Ventures Limited. She 
had also been with Deloitte & Touche 
LLP as Senior Audit Manager. Ms Chan 
holds a Bachelor of Accounting & 
Finance (Hons) from the University of 
Glamorgan, United Kingdom. She is a 
Chartered Accountant of the Institute of 
Singapore Chartered Accountants and a 
Fellow of the Chartered Association of 
Certified Accountants.

tan i-lin, tammy choo peng yen ong poh sim, may chan wan tak, wendy
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

Overview
2015 was a challenging year on many 
counts, with more vehicles de-registered 
and competition hotting up.

In fact, a total of 71,752 vehicles 
were de-registered during the year – 
more than double the number of 	
de-registrations in 2014.

But we held our own through innovative 
marketing campaigns and improved 
service offerings.

As a result, we managed a total of 
522,140 vehicle inspections in 2015, 
a slight increase compared to the 
previous year. 

With Certificate of Entitlement (COE) 
premiums averaging $58,000 during 
the year, many motorists adopted a 
wait-and-see attitude, preferring to 
hang onto their old cars and holding off 
new car purchases. The prevalence of 
private car mobile booking apps also 
contributed to an increase in demand 
for vehicle inspection services as most of 
the cars used by such apps are old cars.

Competition in the inspection business 
continued to intensify. In a bid to 
improve our value proposition to 
customers, we introduced more benefits 
in collaboration with several of our 
business partners. This included free 
$10,000 Personal Accident coverage for 
our customers and free gifts like tyre 
gauges and ez-link cards. In addition, we 
have signed an Agency Agreement with 
AXA Insurance Singapore to represent 
them in motor insurance sales at our 
insurance counters. This will add another 
option for our customers besides our 
current representation of NTUC Income 
and ERGO Insurance (formally known 
as SHC). 

In August 2015, we collaborated with 
Diners Club to launch our very own 
loyalty card, the Diners/VICOM “V” Card. 
Besides offering users the usual credit 
card benefits, “V” card holders can enjoy 
$26 off their vehicle inspection fee once 
a year. Card holders can also enjoy free 
24-hour road side assistance provided 
by ComfortDelGro Engineering Pte Ltd 
and 25% discount off car rentals at 
ComfortDelGro Rent-A-Car Pte Ltd. 

Tapping on to our Nation’s celebration 
of the Jubilee year, a special SG50 
promotion was launched. Customers 
who purchased an AXA Motor Insurance 
through VICOM were entitled to 50% 
off inspection fees while those who 
signed up for the “V” card got another 

REVENUE (S$’mil) TOTAL NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

106.7 870

Sin Ming • Changi • Bukit Batok • Yishun	
 Kaki Bukit • Pioneer • Ang Mo Kio • Teban Gardens • Kuala Lumpur (Malaysia)
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50% off upon card approval. Customers 
who opted to sign on with both partners 
would get a free vehicle inspection. 
We have plans to add other motoring 
benefits to make the “V” card a unique 
“motoring” credit card to attract even 
more customers. 

Our centres continued to provide 
various value added services during 
the year including in-vehicle unit (IU) 
maintenance, pre-owned car evaluation 
and vehicle emission certification. 
VICOM Assessment Centre (VAC) also 
offered vehicle assessment services 
at our centres in Sin Ming, Bukit Batok 
and Kaki Bukit. For the year ended 31 
December 2015, VAC saw an increase of 
16.3% in accident vehicle survey jobs. In 
addition, VAC assisted 1,063 motorists 
with the repair of their vehicles at 
approved workshops and filed 13,288 
accident reports at our three centres. 

The Automated Payment Machines 
(APMs), which were first rolled out in 
Sin Ming inspection centre in 2014, have 
proven to be a hit with customers given 
how user friendly they are. With each 
transaction taking less than a minute to 
complete, payment queues have now 
been reduced by 70%. In light of this, 
another 14 APMs were added across all 
our seven inspection centres in 2015. 

With the APMs fully deployed, the 
amount of paper work has been 
significantly reduced. Cashiers can 
therefore focus their attention on 
responding to motorists’ enquiries. 
Similarly, our inspectors who work 
during extended operating hours are 
also relieved from payment matters 
and can now concentrate on handling 
inspections. Plans are underway to 
tap on the capabilities of the APMs 
to provide even more services for 
our corporate and walk-in customers 
in 2016.

Other “upgrades” include a new coat of 
paint for JIC Pioneer inspection centre 
and the replacement of three motorcycle 
test lanes in Ang Mo Kio and Kaki Bukit 
inspection centres.

In July 2015, there was a change in the 
Carbon Emissions-Based Vehicle Scheme 
(CEVS) which was first introduced in 
January 2013. The revised CEVS was 
more stringent than the original and will 
be effective for two years.

To qualify for a rebate under the 
revised CEVS, a new car must not emit 
more than 135g/km of carbon, down 
from 160g/km previously. Similarly, 
penalties will be imposed on cars that 
emit more than 185g/km of carbon, 
down from 210g/km previously. 
Meanwhile, the maximum rebate has 
been raised for cars that emit no more 
than 100g/km of carbon. The change 
has driven demand for VICOM Emission 
Test Laboratory (VETL) services up during 
the first half of 2015 as dealers rushed 
to beat the deadline. This, together with 
the release of more COEs, led to a record 
476 vehicles being tested by VETL in 2015, 
up from 223 vehicles in 2014.

On the flip side, VICOM VFITTM, our 
used car evaluation service, saw a drop 
in demand in line with the proportion 
of cars aged between three and eight 
years. Typically, pre-owned car buyers 
will only use the service if their cars are 
older than three years or younger than 
eight. This is because younger cars are 
still under warranty and older ones will 
be scrapped soon.

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Setsco 
Services Pte Ltd (SETSCO), had a 
challenging year in 2015 due to the 
general slowdown in the economy.

In 2015, SETSCO completed several 
overseas glass inspection projects. These 
included the Flame Towers in Baku, 
Azerbaijan and the Four Seasons Hotel 
in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. In 
addition, it also performed two major 
glass inspection projects in Singapore. 

In support of environmental 
sustainability, SETSCO carried out 
a number of projects involving the 
analysis of water, sludge and air as well 
as grease trap audit and inspection for 

PUB; ambient air monitoring involving 
the measurement of particulate matter, 
sulphur dioxide, ozone, carbon monoxide 
and nitrogen dioxide for Jurong Town 
Council; and the sampling and analysis 
of water and soil at Putrajaya Dam in 
Malaysia. SETSCO also developed the 
capability to conduct noise impact 
assessments and provide solutions 
to mitigate the effects of noise 
at worksites. 

SETSCO also performed fabrication 
inspection of a new storage terminal at 
Tembusu in Jurong Island and a three-
storey Airport Terminal 4 building at 
Changi. It also completed two jobs 
involving the non-destructive testing 	
of offshore oil rigs. 

During the year, SETSCO introduced 
a number of new testing services to 
support the industry. It used small 
controlled area radiography with built-in 
collimation to enhance the ability for 
radiographic inspection to be performed 
more safely and with equal, if not 
higher, levels of productivity. It also 
used ultrasonic phased array technology 
which simplified the inspection of 
components with complex geometry. In 
the field of calibration & measurement, 
it introduced flow and volumetric 
calibration measurements to widen its 
scope of services. For the construction 
industry, it set up a new testing service 
to conduct daylight reflectance of 
roofing and façade materials.

SETSCO successfully obtained the 
ISO 50001 certification on Electrical 
Energy Management of Laboratory 
Operation in 2015. ISO 50001 Energy 
Management System (EnMS) standard 
is a globally accepted framework 
for managing energy, providing 
technical and management strategies 
for companies to increase energy 
efficiency, reduce costs, and improve 
environmental performance.

SETSCO also received the Silver Award 
for the Singapore HEALTH (Helping 
Employees Achieve Life-Time Health) 

OPERATIONS REVIEW
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Award which is presented by the Health 
Promotion Board to organisations 
with commendable Workplace Health 
Promotion programmes. 

Customer Service Excellence & 
Professionalism
Customer service is an integral part of 
VICOM’s corporate psyche. 

During the year, we implemented a 
few initiatives including procuring 20 
customer service tablets and installing 
them at our various counters including 
all cashier, road tax, accident reporting 
and insurance counters. Through 
the installation of such electronic 
feedback devices, we aim to constantly 
monitor and improve on our customer 
service skills.

Besides gathering feedback through the 
customer service tablets, our Marketing 
Department also conducted a series 
of training for our inspectors, using 
actual case studies, to emphasise the 
importance of customer service.

At our Sin Ming premises, we relocated 
the road tax payment counter, insurance 
counter and vehicle assessment centre 
into one integrated office. This has 
enabled us to leverage on synergies and 
free up enough space for an improved 
waiting lounge for our customers. 

The customer service officers in the 
Marketing Department usually receive 
an average of 164 calls on weekdays and 
131 calls on Saturdays with regards to 
standard queries like operating hours, 
inspection fees and IU services. We 
decided to automate these answers 
and introduce the Automated Phone 
Answering System in 2015. Ever since 
then, about 45% of such enquiries 
are dealt with automatically, thus 
improving the overall response time to 
our customers. More significantly, it has 
enabled us to provide customers with 
answers to their queries at any time of 
the day or night.

With all these initiatives in place, our 
efforts to improve customer service 
have paid off and we received 121 
heart-warming written compliments 
from motorists in 2015, up from 21 in 
2014. This has boosted the morale of 
our inspectors and Management alike 
and we will continue to drive a service-
oriented culture to all our staff and make 
this a competitive advantage.

To ensure VICOM’s professionalism, 	
it is important that we continue to be 
linked to international professional 
bodies/organisations to keep abreast of 
technological advances and potential 
policy changes. We have sent two 
members of our Management team to 
attend the International Motor Vehicle 
Inspection Committee Conferences 2015 
in Dubai.

Besides learning at the strategic level, 
we have also rolled out four training 
courses at the tactical level for all our 
inspectors. The courses focussed on 
new regulations or instructions issued 
by the Authorities during the year and 
highlight the common lapses and hard 
to detect issues. 

Improving Internal Efficiency
VICOM continues to look at ways to 
improve efficiency and cut costs. We 
have worked with the Land Transport 
Authority and Singapore Accreditation 
Council to replace hard copy reports 
with new electronic ones which 
incorporate digital signatures and have 
watermarks for enhanced security. 
With this, customers do not have to 
come personally to collect the hardcopy 
reports as they can receive e-copies at 
their convenience. This has improved 
operational efficiency and upped our 
Green Quotient.

VAC also worked with various insurance 
companies to accept pictures taken 
of accident cars to be printed on the 
report instead of requiring them to be 
developed by a photo laboratory. This 
initiative has not only saved costs but 
also time and effort.

Our Finance Department has 
implemented the SAP Financial system 
for Setsco Services (M) Sdn Bhd, thus 
standardising the accounting software. 
Other departments have also reviewed 
and improved work processes, resulting 
in higher productivity and savings on 
manpower, energy and printing costs. 
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

VOLUNTEERED HOURS

LITTLE RED DOTS SOLD 
TO BENEFIT LOCAL CHARITIES

REDUCTION IN 
WATER CONSUMPTION

OF GARBAGE CLEARED 	
ON THE BEACH 

 RAISED FOR STAR PALS

733

3,0006.6%

632KG

$4,500

Interwoven into the VICOM Group’s 
psyche and corporate culture is the firm 
commitment to sustainability.

To us, Corporate Social Responsibility 
is more than just volunteering hours. It 
is an overall need to constantly update 
our business processes and practices 
to ensure a positive change for a better 
future. With this engrained mindset, 
VICOM aims to be a driving force in the 
bid to make Singapore greener and safer. 

Environmental
VICOM and Setsco Services Pte Ltd 
(SETSCO) have been driving many 
Green initiatives over the years as 

part of business sustainability. Many 
environmentally friendly measures to 
reduce, reuse and recycle the limited 
resources; from utilities like water and 
electricity, to office equipment and 
supplies like paper, obsolete computers, 
printers and cartridges, have been put 
in place.

In line with the ComfortDelGro Group’s 
Green efforts, energy consumption was 
closely monitored and energy-saving 
electrical components and appliances 
such as energy-saving induction lamps, 
energy efficient air-conditioning units, 
motion detectors and water-saving 
devices installed at VICOM’s premises. 

Staff were constantly reminded to 
practise energy-saving and water-saving 
habits. All these have resulted in savings 
in electricity and water consumption. 

One example of measures taken to 
reduce energy consumption involved the 
Dustmaster Exhaust Extraction System, 
a centralised system which used to run 
nonstop during operating hours. As 
the system is centrally controlled and 
covers all inspection lanes, it cannot 
be switched off “in parts”. This meant 
energy wastage during lull periods. 
The Engineering Department devised 
a Programmable Logic Controller (PLC) 
unit which automatically switched off 
the system if it detected that all the 
inspection lanes were not in use. This 
resulted in a monthly reduction of 45% 
in electricity consumption. Significantly, 
it also reduces the incidence of wear and 
tear. All VICOM inspection centres will be 
equipped with the PLC units by the end 
of the first quarter of 2016.

Water consumption was also closely 
monitored during the year. Any increase 
in water consumption was investigated 
and measures taken to reduce wastage. 
The Group’s water consumption stood 
at 369 cu m per million revenue, a 
reduction of 6.6% as compared to 395m3 
per million revenue in 2014.
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VICOM Emission Test Laboratory (VETL) 
continued to work very closely with the 
Authorities to ensure that changes in the 
Carbon Emissions-Based Vehicle Scheme 
were strictly complied with.

VETL also worked with the Land 
Transport Authority to introduce the 
e-VETL Report (PDF format) which 
features digital signatures and a 
watermark feature for enhanced 
security. With it, customers are able to 
receive e-reports and no longer need 
to drive to the inspection centre to get 
the physical reports, instead, they can 
receive their e-reports at the comfort 
of their office. This not only increased 
operational efficiency but also greatly 
reduced the consumption of paper.

VICOM Group continued to support the 
Earth Hour campaign by encouraging 
our staff to make a conscientious effort 
to switch all lights off during the lunch 
hour for two weeks. Staff at VICOM’s 
Sin Ming office also switched off their 
air-conditioning units daily during lunch 
breaks and external meetings.

In June 2015, 22 volunteers from SETSCO 
participated in the “Eco Action Day 
Coastal Clean Up” campaign organised 
by the International Costal Cleanup 
Singapore and helped clear 632kg of 
garbage on the beach at Tanah Merah. 

Product Responsibility:  
Safety and Security 
SETSCO organised various safety 
orientation training and courses for its 
staff to equip them with skills such as first-
aid, forklift driving, risk management and 
working at heights. Additionally, SETSCO 
was recertified with the OHSAS ISO 
18001 by Certification International after 
undergoing the annual surveillance audit.

Closed circuit television systems were 
installed at VICOM’s inspection centres 
and SETSCO’s premises to improve 
security through better surveillance. 

Social: Human Rights and 
Labour Practices 
As part of the ComfortDelGro Group, 
VICOM adopts a rigorous process 
of recruitment, deployment, talent 
development, recognition and rewards 
to ensure that the quality of our 
workforce is of the highest calibre. For 
2015, there was greater emphasis on 
the engagement and development 
of the key identified talents through 
management dialogues, discussion 
workshops and leadership forums. 

Society
VICOM Group is heavily committed 
to helping the underprivileged and 
less fortunate. Fifteen years ago, the 
VICOM Care & Share programme was 
formed to give back to the community. 
Through monthly staff donations, 
which are matched dollar-for-dollar 
by the Company, the Care & Share 
Committee and staff are able to reach 
out to the sick, the elderly and the less 
fortunate – either by bringing them out 
on excursions and meals, or by donating 
to their daily needs. For example, we 
brought 150 elderly residents of Thye 
Hwa Kwan @Indus Moral dinner during 
Chinese New Year and gave them red 
packets to celebrate. We also brought 220 
senior citizens from various beneficiaries 
to an afternoon concert, “Remembering 
Teresa Teng”, on 1 June 2015 and 
another group to the “Gardens by the 
Bay” during the Mid-Autumn Festival.

In support of the “ComfortDelGro 
Celebrates SG50” Charity Drive, which 
was held in celebration of Singapore’s 
50th birthday, more than 3,000 little 
red dots were sold at our inspection 
centres. All proceeds were donated to 
the four beneficiaries adopted by the 
ComfortDelGro Group, which are the 
Lions Befrienders Service Association 
(Singapore), Handicaps Welfare 
Association, Cerebral Palsy Alliance 
Singapore and Singapore Association of 
the Visually Handicapped.

VICOM continued to reach out to Star 
PALS, a palliative home care service for 
children and youth with life-threatening 
or the life-limiting conditions, by 
donating taxi vouchers for their travel 
needs. Donation boxes were also placed 
at our inspection centres to raise funds 
for the children. In all, a total of $4,500 
was raised during the year.

To end the year, 22 underprivileged 
children from the Serangoon Moral 
Family Service Centre were treated to a 
hearty McDonald’s breakfast followed 
by an educational farm tour at Lim Chu 
Kang. Separately, another group of 22 
children from South Central Community 
Family Service Centre were gifted with 
book vouchers.

Additionally, 25 volunteers from SETSCO 
teamed up with Willing Hearts to 
prepare and cook meals for the elderly 
and the underprivileged. To bring the 
Christmas cheer to the physically-
disabled, SETSCO also helped raise 
funds for the Society for the Physically 
Disabled through Christmas carolling.

SETSCO continued to hold its bi-annual 
blood donation drive in partnership with 
the Singapore Red Cross Society. A total 
of 109 units of blood were donated by 
its staff as well as volunteers from other 
companies – about 50% more than the 
previous year.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, 
our staff volunteered a total of 733 
hours in our efforts to reach out 	
to the community.
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We at VICOM Ltd (VICOM or Company, 
and together with its subsidiaries, the 
Group), believe that a fundamental 
measure of our success is the shareholder 
value we create over the long-term. 

We will continue to: 

•	 Focus relentlessly on our customers;

•	 Make sound corporate decisions to 
build long-term value, rather than 
short-term considerations;

•	 Spend wisely and maintain our 
lean culture as we understand the 
importance of being cost-conscious;

•	 Hire and retain skilled and dedicated 
employees; and 

•	 Look for sustainable ways to protect 
the environment.

Corporate Governance 
Statement
VICOM strongly believes that good 
corporate governance makes good 
business. To this end, we maintain 
the highest standards of corporate 
governance, professionalism and 
integrity as we build an organisation 
that our Shareholders, Employees, Business 
Partners, the Authorities and other 
Stakeholders can trust and be proud of.

We adhere to the revised Code of 
Corporate Governance issued by the 
Monetary Authority of Singapore on 
2 May 2012 (Code) and ensure that 
it is upheld by each and every one 
in the Group. We have also adopted 
a Code of Business Conduct, which 
sets out the principles and policies 
upon which our businesses are to 
be conducted, and implemented a 
Whistleblowing Policy which provides 
a mechanism for employees to raise 
concerns about possible improprieties 
in financial reporting or other improper 
business conduct, whilst protecting the 
whistleblowers from reprisal within the 
limits of the law. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

This Report sets out the Corporate 
Governance practices that were in place 
during the year, with specific references 
to the Code. For the Financial Year 
2015, we are pleased to report that 
the Company complied substantially 
with the key principles and supporting 
guidelines set out in the Code except 
where specifically identified and 
disclosed in this report.

1. Board Matters
In choosing directors, the Company 
seeks individuals who have high 
integrity, expertise, business acumen, 
shareholder orientation and a genuine 
interest in the Group.

Principle 1: 	
The Board’s Conduct of Affairs
Board’s Role
At the helm of the decision-making 
process of the Company is the Board of 
Directors. The Board is headed by the 
non-executive and non-independent 
Chairman, Mr Lim Jit Poh, and is 
responsible for: 

(i)	 Providing the entrepreneurial 
leadership and guidance, setting 
strategic direction and objectives 
of the Group, and ensuring that 
adequate financial and human 
resources are in place to achieve 
the objectives; 

(ii)	 Ensuring that appropriate and 
adequate systems of internal 
control, risk management 
processes and financial authority 
limits are in place to safeguard 
Shareholders’ interests and the 
Group’s assets; 

(iii)	 Monitoring Management 
performance;

(iv)	 Identifying the key Stakeholder 
groups and guiding Management 
in the Company’s strategy 
and approach in addressing 
the concerns of these key 
Stakeholder groups;

(v)	 Setting the Company’s values 
and standards (including ethical 
standards), and ensure that 
obligations to Shareholders and 
other Stakeholders are understood 
and met; and

(vi)	 Considering environmental, 
social and governance as part 
of its strategic formulation 
on sustainability.

Reserved Matters
VICOM has adopted internal guidelines 
setting forth certain matters that require 
the Board’s approval. Under these 
guidelines, acquisitions of businesses, 
disposals or changes in equity interests 
in existing subsidiaries/associates, capital 
expenditure, investment in financial 
instruments, tender for businesses 
above the prescribed limits, assessing 
and approving key business decisions, 
funding and investment initiatives 
and other corporate actions, including 
approval of the Financial Authority 
Limits, Annual Budget and Capital 
Expenditure and the release of the 
quarterly and full-year Financial Results 
require approval from the Board. In 
addition, the acceptance of credit 
facilities from banks, the establishment 
of capital market programmes and the 
issuance of debt instruments require the 
approval of the Board.

The Board periodically reviews the 
adequacy of internal controls and 
Financial Authority Limits to ensure that 
while there is delegation of authority, 
there are sufficient checks and balances 
in place to monitor such delegation.

Independent Judgement
All Directors are aware of their fiduciary 
duties and exercise due diligence and 
independent judgement in ensuring that 
their decisions are objective and in the 
best interests of the Company.

Delegation by the Board
To assist the Board in the detailed 
consideration of the various issues at 
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hand and to facilitate decision-making, 
three Board Committees are formed, 
namely, the Audit and Risk Committee 
(ARC), the Nominating Committee (NC) 
and the Remuneration Committee (RC). 
Ad hoc committees are also formed to 
look at specific issues from time to time. 

Each Board Committee is governed and 
regulated by its own terms of reference, 
which sets out the scope of its duties 
and responsibilities, regulations and 
procedures governing the manner 
in which the Board Committee is to 
operate and how decisions are to be 

taken. Although the Board Committees 
are empowered to make their own 
decisions, the Board is ultimately 
responsible for all decisions made by the 
Board Committees. 

Directors’ Attendance at Board and 
Board Committee Meetings
At least four scheduled Board Meetings 
are held every year for the purpose of 
approving the release of the Financial 
Results every quarter and the Annual 
Budget. The Board Meetings to approve 
the Financial Results are held within 45 
days after the end of each quarter and 

the financial year. The Annual Budget is 
approved at the Board Meeting convened 
for the third quarter’s results. Ad hoc 
Board and Board Committee Meetings 
are also held from time to time when the 
need arises. Directors who are unable to 
attend the Meetings in person can still 
participate in the discussions through tele-
conferencing. Decisions of the Board and 
Board Committees may also be obtained 
via circular resolutions. Directors are free 
to seek clarifications and explanations 
from Management on the reports and 
papers submitted to the Board.

Attendance of Directors at Board and Board Committee Meetings in 2015

Board Audit and Risk 
Committee

Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

	
Name

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

Lim Jit Poh 4 4 - - 1 1 2 2

Kua Hong Pak 4 4 - - 1 1* 2 2*

Sim Wing Yew 4 4 4 4* - - 2 2*

Goh Yeow Tin 4 4 4 4 1 1 - -

Ho Kah Leong 4 4 4 4 - - 2 2

Ong Teong Wan 4 4 4 4 1 1 - -

Sim Cheok Lim 4 4 - - 1 1 2 2

Teo Geok Har, Nancy 4 4 4 4 - - 2 2

* Attended Meetings by invitation of the Board Committee
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Induction and Training of Directors
Upon appointment as a Director, the 
Board Chairman will send an official 
letter of appointment to the Director, 
which clearly explains his/her role, 
duties and responsibilities.

Management will conduct a 
comprehensive orientation programme 
for newly appointed Directors, where 
key aspects of the businesses, including 
financial and corporate governance 
policies are discussed. Site visits will also 
be arranged for new Directors so that 
they can better familiarise themselves 
with the Group’s operations. When 
a Director is appointed to a Board 
Committee, he/she is provided with its 
terms of reference.

Directors are free to request for 
sponsorship from the Company 
to attend courses to update their 
knowledge and better equip themselves 
to discharge their duties as Directors. 
The Company Secretary assists in 
professional development and training 
by regularly disseminating details of 
suitable seminars and courses organised 
by the Singapore Institute of Directors 
and arranging for the Directors to 
attend such courses when requested. 
The Company Secretary also updates 
the Board on corporate governance 
practices and circulates articles relating 
to changes in laws relevant to the 
Group’s businesses. The Group has 
engaged an external lawyer to brief and 
discuss with the Directors on the recent 
changes in the Companies Act, Cap. 50 in 
March 2016.

Regular presentations are made 
by Management to the Board to 
enable Directors to better familiarise 
themselves with the Group’s businesses. 

Principle 2: 	
Board Composition and Guidance
Board Independence
There is a strong element of 
independence in the Board. The 
Board comprises the Chief Executive 

Officer (CEO) and seven non-executive 
Directors (NED). Of the seven NEDs, 
five of them are considered by the NC 
to be independent which exceeds the 
Code’s requirement of at least half of 
the Board to comprise independent 
Directors where the Chairman is not an 
independent Director.

The NC is responsible for assessing 
the independence of the Directors 
on an annual basis. Each Director is 
required to complete a Confirmation 
of Independence checklist which is 
drawn up in accordance with the 
guidelines provided by the Code and 
requires each Director to assess his/
her own independence. The Director is 
required to declare any circumstances in 
which he/she may be considered non-
independent. The NC will then review 
the Confirmation of Independence 
to determine whether a Director is 
independent. The NC deems a Director 
who is directly associated with a 
10% Shareholder in the current and 
immediate past financial year (as defined 
in the Code) as non-independent. Mr 
Lim Jit Poh and Mr Kua Hong Pak are 
deemed as non-independent as they 
are also Directors of ComfortDelGro 
Corporation Limited (ComfortDelGro), 
a 10% Shareholder. 

As at 31 December 2015, four out of five 
independent Directors have served on 
the Board for more than nine years. They 
are Dr Ho Kah Leong, Mr Ong Teong 
Wan, Mr Sim Cheok Lim and Ms Teo 
Geok Har, Nancy. The NC takes the view 
that a Director’s independence cannot 
be determined solely and arbitrarily 
on the basis of the length of time. A 
Director’s contribution in terms of 
experience, expertise, professionalism, 
integrity, objectivity and independent 
judgement in engaging and challenging 
Management in the best interests of 
the Group as he/she performs his/her 
duties in good faith, are more critical 
measures in ascertaining his/her 
independence than the number of years 
served on the Board. Hence, the Board 

does not impose a limit on the length 
of service of the independent Directors. 
The Board and the NC exercise due and 
careful review, taking into consideration 
all other factors, in assessing the 
independence of a Director. These 
factors include, inter alia, if the Director 
has any interest, business, relationship 
and/or any other material contractual 
relationship with the Group which could 
reasonably be perceived to compromise 
his/her independence and interfere with 
the exercise of his/her independent 
business judgement with a view to the 
best interests of the Group. After due 
and careful review, the Board is of the 
view that all independent Directors 
remain independent in the exercise of 
their judgement on Board matters.

Board Size, Composition and 
Competency
The NC annually examines the size of 
the Board with a view to determine 
its overall effectiveness. Taking into 
account the scope and nature of 
the operations of the Group and the 
requirements of the Group’s businesses, 
the NC and the Board are of the view 
that its current size of eight is conducive 
to facilitate effective decision making. 

The Directors are individuals with 
a broad diversity of expertise and 
experience including financial, 
engineering and business management, 
both domestically and internationally. 
Each Director provides a valuable 
network of industry contacts and brings 
in alternative perspectives and fresh 
challenges at Board discussions.

The NC is satisfied that the Board 
and Board Committees comprise 
Directors who as a group provide an 
appropriate balance and diversity of 
skills, experience, knowledge and core 
competencies required for the Board and 
Board Committees to discharge their 
responsibilities effectively.

The individual profile of the Directors, 
their principal directorships and 
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chairmanships held currently and their 
directorships and chairmanships held 
in listed companies in the preceding 
three years, are found in the ‘Board of 
Directors’ and ‘Directors’ Particulars’ 
sections on pages 8 to 11 and page 38 to 
40 of this Annual Report.

Non-Executive Directors’ Participation
NEDs participate actively at Board and 
Board Committee Meetings. To facilitate 
this, they are kept informed of the 
Group’s businesses and performance 
through monthly and quarterly reports 
from the Management and have 
unrestricted access to the Management. 

Principle 3: 
Chairman and CEO
Roles of Chairman and CEO
The roles of the Chairman and the CEO 
are kept separate and distinct. This is a 
deliberate policy and one that is strictly 
adhered to. This ensures Management 
accountability and Board independence. 
The Chairman is responsible for the 
effective functioning of the Board, 
while the CEO is responsible for the 
operations and management of the 
Group’s businesses. The CEO reports to 
the Deputy Chairman. The Chairman, 
Deputy Chairman and the CEO are 
not related. 

The Chairman: 

(i)	 Leads the Board and promotes 
comprehensive and open 
discussions at Board meetings 
and facilitates the effective 
contribution of the NEDs;

(ii)	 Oversees the translation of the 
Board’s decisions into executive 
actions;

(iii)	 Ensures adequacy and timeliness 
of information flow between 
the Board and Management 
and effective communications 
with Shareholders;

(iv)	 Encourages constructive relations 
within the Board and between the 
Board and Management; and

(v)	 Promotes high standards 
of corporate governance 
and transparency. 

The CEO is given full executive 
responsibility for the management 
of the Group’s businesses and the 
implementation of the Group’s 
strategies and policies and reports to the 
Board on a regular basis.

Lead Independent Director
Consistent with the guidelines of the 
Code, as the Chairman, Mr Lim Jit Poh, 
is deemed non-independent, the Board 
had unanimously appointed Mr Goh 
Yeow Tin as the Lead Independent 
Director on 1 January 2013. 

Principle 4: 
Board Membership
There is a formal and transparent 
process for the appointment and re-
appointment of Directors to the Board.

Nominating Committee 
The NC comprises four non-executive 
Directors, of whom three including the 
Chairman, are independent. Consistent 
with the Code, the Lead Independent 
Director is also the Chairman of the 
NC who is not associated with a 10% 
Shareholder. The NC is responsible for 
regularly reviewing the composition of 
the Board, identifying and proposing 
suitable candidates for appointment 
to the Board and ensuring succession 
plans are in place. The renewal of Board 
membership is an ongoing process 
to ensure good governance and to 
maintain relevance in a changing 
business environment. 

The key terms of reference of the NC 
include the following:

(i)	 Make recommendations to the 
Board on all appointments and 
re-appointments of Directors of 
the Company;

(ii)	 Assess the effectiveness of the 
Board as a whole and contribution 
by each individual Director; and

(iii)	 Develop a process for evaluation of 
the Board’s performance, including 
comparison with industry peers, 
and review of training and 
development plans for the Board.

Multiple Board Representations
The NC subscribes to the view that it 
is important for Directors to devote 
sufficient time and attention to the 
affairs of the Group. Consistent with the 
guidelines in the Code, the NC and the 
Board adopt the following as a proactive 
step in ensuring that Directors devote 
sufficient time and attention to the 
affairs of the Group: 

•	 A Director who is in full-time 
employment should not serve as a 
director on the board of more than 
three listed companies; and	
 

•	 A Director who is not in full-time 
employment should not serve as a 
director on the board of more than 
six listed companies. 	

The NC prescribes that Directors who are 
affected by the guidelines on multiple 
board representations shall be given up 
to three years to comply from April 2013. 
As the number of board representations 
should not be the only measure of a 
Director’s commitment and ability to 
contribute effectively, the NC takes the 
view that if a Director wishes to hold 
more board representations than the 
maximum stated in the guidelines, a 
request must be made to the Chairman 
of the Board for approval. As a policy, 
the Chairman himself should not 
hold more than six directorships in 
listed companies.

In assessing a Director’s contribution, 
the NC takes a holistic approach. 
Focussing solely on Directors’ 
attendance at Board and Board 
Committee Meetings per se may not 
be an adequate evaluation of the 
contribution of the Directors. Instead, 
their abilities to provide valuable insights 
and strategic networking to enhance 
the businesses of the Group, availability 
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for guidance and advice outside the 
scope of formal Board and Board 
Committee Meetings and contributions 
in specialised areas are also factors 
relevant in assessing the contributions 
of the Directors. 

As a policy, the CEO, being an executive 
of the Company, besides adhering to 
the guidelines set on the maximum 
number of board representations on 
listed companies, will also have to 
seek the approval of the Chairman 
before accepting any directorships of 
companies not within the Group. In 
considering whether or not to grant the 
approval, the Chairman will consider 
the time commitment of the CEO and 
whether the new external directorships 
will provide strategic fit and networking 
for the businesses of the Group. The 
Chairman will also ensure that the CEO 
will not accept appointments to the 
boards of competitors.

Alternate Director
Consistent with the Code, there is no 
alternate Director on the Board.

Process for Selection, Appointment and 
Re-appointment of Directors
From time to time, new Directors may be 
identified for appointment to the Board 
after the NC evaluates and assesses their 
suitability in strengthening the diversity 
of skills, knowledge and experience of 
the Board relevant to the businesses of 
the Group.

The Articles of Association of the 
Company provide that one-third of 
the Board of Directors, are subject to 
retirement and re-election by rotation 
at every Annual General Meeting 
(AGM). All Directors are required to 
retire from office at least once every 
three years. Re-election is, however, 
not automatic, and all Directors are 
assessed by the NC on their past 
performance and contributions before 
being recommended for re-election. 
Newly appointed Directors are also 

subject to retirement and re-election at 
the AGM immediately following their 
appointments. For the forthcoming 
AGM, Mr Sim Wing Yew, is due for 
re-election pursuant to Article 95(2) 
of the Articles of Association. Dr Ho 
Kah Leong, Mr Sim Cheok Lim, Mr Ong 
Teong Wan, Mr Lim Jit Poh, and Mr 
Kua Hong Pak were re-appointed as 
Directors at the last AGM pursuant 
to Section 153(6) of the Companies 
Act, Cap. 50 to hold office until the 
forthcoming AGM. Although Section 
153(6) has been repealed on 3 January 
2016, the five Directors will seek re-
appointment at the forthcoming AGM 
in order to continue in office. Upon their 
successful re-appointments, they will 
be subject to retirement by rotation at 
subsequent AGMs.

Principle 5: 
Board Performance
The effectiveness of the Board is 
monitored by the NC annually in terms 
of overall performance and growth of 
the Group, achieving an adequate return 
for Shareholders, preventing conflicts of 
interest and balancing the competing 
demands of the Group. In evaluating 
the contributions and performance of 
each individual Director, factors taken 
into consideration include attendance at 
Board and Board Committee Meetings 
and activities, contributions in specialist 
areas and maintenance of independence.

In the last quarter of the year, the 
NC conducted an evaluation of 
Board Performance which included 
key points on Board’s composition, 
Board’s contributions, contributions 
from Board Committees and conduct 
of proceedings and whether the 
Directors had discharged their duties 
effectively. The findings were then 
presented by the Chairman of the NC 
to the Board during its Meeting for 
deliberation and discussion on possible 
areas of improvement to enhance 
overall effectiveness.

Principle 6: 
Access to Information
Complete, Adequate and Timely 
Information
Prior to each Board and Board 
Committee Meeting, and where needed, 
Management provides Directors 
with complete, adequate and timely 
information. The Board also receives 
monthly management accounts and 
quarterly investor relations reports 
covering investor relations activities 
and updates of analysts’ views and 
comments. This enables the Board to 
make informed and sound business 
decisions and be kept abreast of 
key challenges, opportunities and 
developments for the Group. 

Directors are entitled to request for 
additional information and the Board 
has full access to the Management 
team. Should there be a need to obtain 
independent professional advice on 
matters relating to the businesses of 
the Group or issues affecting the duties 
of the Directors, the Company will 
arrange for the appointment of relevant 
professional advisers at its own cost.

Company Secretary
The Company Secretary assists in 
scheduling Board and Board Committee 
Meetings and prepares the agenda in 
consultation with the Chairman and 
CEO. The Company Secretary attends the 
Board and Board Committee Meetings. 
The Company Secretary keeps the 
Directors informed of any significant 
developments or events relating to the 
Group and ensures compliance with 
all relevant rules and regulations. The 
Directors have independent access to 
the Company Secretary.
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2. Remuneration Matters
Principle 7: 
Procedures for Developing 
Remuneration Policies
VICOM recognises the importance of 
having a skilled and dedicated workforce 
to manage and grow the businesses 
in an increasingly competitive and 
challenging environment. It therefore 
places great emphasis on motivating 
staff through engagement, recognition 
and an alignment of rewards to 
performance and the long-term 
interests of the Group.

Remuneration Committee
The RC plays a key role in the Group’s 
remuneration policies. Besides providing 
the Board with an independent 
assessment and review of Directors’ 
remuneration, it also reviews the 
remuneration framework and strategy 
for executive compensation, with 
the purpose of developing talent and 
building leadership bench strength to 
ensure the Group’s continued success. 

In accordance with the Code, the RC 
comprises four non-executive Directors, 
of whom three including the Chairman, 
are independent. Members of the 
RC are independent of Management 
and also free from any business 
or other relationships, which may 
materially interfere with the exercise of 
independent judgement. 

All decisions by the RC are made by a 
majority of votes of the RC members 
who are present and voting. Any 
member of the RC with a conflict of 
interest in relation to the subject matter 
under consideration would abstain 
from voting, approving or making 
recommendations that would affect the 
decisions of the RC. The RC’s decisions 
also exclude the vote, approval or 
recommendation of any members with 
a conflict of interest in relation to the 
subject matter under consideration. The 
CEO is not present at any RC discussions 
relating to his own compensation, terms 
and conditions of service and the review 

of his performance. He is, however, in 
attendance when the compensation and 
incentive policies of Senior Management 
staff are discussed.

The terms of reference of the RC are to: 

(i)	 Review and recommend to 
the Board the remuneration 
framework for compensation to 
each Director, and ensure that 
the level of remuneration offered 
is appropriate to the level of 
contribution;

(ii)	 Review and approve the 
remuneration of Senior 
Management staff that is aligned 
with the long-term interests of 
the Group to ensure that the 
overall remuneration package is 
attractive to retain and motivate 
key executives; and

(iii)	 Review the Group’s obligations 
arising in the event of termination 
of directors’ and key executives’ 
services in a fair, reasonable and 
equitable manner, including the 
cessation of financial incentives 
that has been earned but not 
yet disbursed due to exceptional 
circumstances of misstatement 
or misconduct.

The RC has access to remuneration data 
and would seek expert advice from 
external remuneration consultants 
whenever required. During the year, 
there is no particular requirement for the 
engagement of external consultants.

Principle 8: 	
Level and Mix of Remuneration
Performance-related Remuneration
The remuneration packages of the 
CEO and Senior Executives of the 
Group comprise fixed and variable 
components. The variable component 
in the form of year-end performance 
bonuses, forms a significant proportion 
of the remuneration packages and is 
dependent on the profitability of the 

Group and individual performance. 
Subject to market conditions and the 
operating environment, the Group 
targets a total compensation package 
with fixed to variable component ratios 
of 70:30 for rank and file employees, 
60:40 for Middle Management staff and 
50:50 for Senior Management staff. The 
Group believes that a higher proportion 
of performance related component 
would ensure greater alignment of 
interests of the executives with those 
of Shareholders and contributes to 
sustainable performance in the long-term. 

Short-term and Long-term Incentive 
Schemes
The Group advocates a performance-
based remuneration system that is 
responsive to the operating environment 
and labour market besides the Group’s 
and individual’s performance. The 
amount and mix of compensation are 
aligned to the interests of Shareholders 
and promote the long-term success of 
the Group. 

Though the last grant of employee 
share options under the 2001 VICOM 
Share Option Scheme was in 2010, the 
options may be exercised up to the tenth 
anniversary of the date of grant of the 
options, i.e. 2020. Consideration of other 
forms of longer term incentive schemes 
will be made as and when appropriate. 
The current remuneration mix of fixed 
and variable components is considered 
appropriate for the Group and for each 
key executive role.

Remuneration of Non-Executive 
Directors
The structure for the payment of 
Directors’ fees for NEDs is based on a 
framework comprising basic fees and 
additional fees for serving on Board 
Committees, and also for undertaking 
additional services for the Group. The 
fees are subject to the approval of 
Shareholders at the AGM. The CEO does 
not receive Director’s fees for his Board 
Directorship with the Company. 
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Board Basic fee (per annum)

Chairman
Deputy Chairman
Lead Independent Director
Member

$55,000
$41,250*
$33,000
$27,500

Board Committee Additional fees as

Chairman	
(per annum) 

Member	
(per annum)

Audit and Risk Committee	
Nominating Committee	
Remuneration Committee

$18,333
$9,167
$9,167

$12,833
$6,417
$6,417

Meetings Attendance fee (per meeting)

Board	
Board Committee

$1,000**	
$1,000**

* Fee paid to ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited, holding company of VICOM Ltd.
** Directors are only paid one attendance fee when two or more Meetings are held on the same day.

Directors’ Fee Structure
The Directors’ fee structure is set out below:

Principle 9: 
Disclosure on Remuneration
Remuneration of Directors and 
Key Executives
The remuneration of the Directors and 
the key executives of the Group (who are 
not Directors) for the Financial Year 2015 
can be found on pages 78 and 79 of this 
Annual Report.

Remuneration of Certain Related 
Employees
During the Financial Year 2015, no key 
executive was an immediate family 
member of any Director of the Company.

3. Accountability and Audit
Principle 10: 
Accountability
The Board has overall accountability 
to the Shareholders of the Company 
and ensures that the Group is well-
managed and guided by strategic 
objectives. The financial results are 

reported each quarter via SGXNet with 
an accompanying negative assurance by 
the Board to confirm that nothing has 
come to its attention that may render 
the results false or misleading in any 
material aspects. The Company believes 
that prompt and full compliance with 
statutory reporting requirements is 
fundamental to maintaining shareholder 
confidence and trust. 

VICOM has adopted an internal code 
based on the SGX’s guideline to 
provide guidance to the Directors and 
executives of the Group in relation 
to dealings in the securities of the 
Company, ComfortDelGro and SBS 
Transit Ltd. Directors and executives of 
the Group are prohibited from dealing 
in the securities of the Company, 
ComfortDelGro and SBS Transit 
during the period commencing two 
weeks before the announcement of 
the Company’s, ComfortDelGro’s and 

SBS Transit’s first, second and third 
quarter results, and one month before 
the announcement of the full-year 
results, and ending on the date of the 
announcement of the relevant results. 
All Directors and executives are notified 
of the trading blackout periods before 
the start of the financial year. 

All Directors and executives of the 
Group are also told that they must not 
deal in (i) the securities of the Company, 
ComfortDelGro and SBS Transit on 
short-term consideration and/or while 
in possession of unpublished material 
price-sensitive information relating 
to the relevant securities; and (ii) the 
securities of other listed companies 
while in possession of unpublished 
material price-sensitive information 
relating to those securities.
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Principle 11: 
Risk Management and Internal Controls 
Risk management is an important 
and integral part of VICOM’s strategic 
planning and decision-making process. 
Key risks are identified and presented 
to the Board annually. Ownership of 
the risk management process is clearly 
defined and cascaded to the executive 
and functional level, with stewardship 
retained at Senior Management. Plans 
that are necessary to manage and 
mitigate the risks are in place and closely 
monitored. The adequacy of the internal 
controls in place is also assessed as part 
of the process. A detailed description of 
the Group’s approach to internal controls 
and risk management is set out on pages 
41 to 43 of this Annual Report.

The Internal and External Auditors 
conduct reviews in accordance with 
their audit plans to assess the adequacy 
of the internal controls that are in place. 
Any material non-compliance and 
recommendations for improvements 
are reported to the ARC. The ARC 
also reviews the effectiveness of the 
actions taken by Management on 
the recommendations made by the 
Internal and External Auditors. The 
recommendations are followed up as 
part of the Group’s continuous review of 
the system of internal controls.

For the Financial Year 2015, the Board 
has received assurance from the CEO 
and the Vice President (Special Grade), 
Finance that (i) the financial records 
have been properly maintained and the 
financial statements are prepared in 
compliance with the Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards and are correct in 
all material aspects and give a true and 
fair view of the operations and finances 
of the Group; and (ii) the Group’s risk 
management and internal control 
systems (including financial, operational, 
compliance and information technology 
controls) are adequate and effective.

Based on these reviews, the Board is 
of the view, with the concurrence of 
the ARC, that there are adequate and 
effective internal controls in place 
within the Group to address its financial, 
operational, compliance and information 
technology risks and to provide 
reasonable assurance against material 
financial misstatements or loss.

Principle 12: 
Audit and Risk Committee 
The Company’s ARC comprises four 
non-executive independent Directors. 
The Board has reviewed and is satisfied 
that the members of the ARC are 
appropriately qualified to discharge 
their responsibilities. The members of 
the ARC collectively have recent and 
related financial management expertise 
and experience. They keep abreast 
of relevant changes to accounting 
standards and issues through 
attendance at relevant seminars/
talks, articles and news circulated by 
the Company Secretary and regular 
updates by the External Auditors at 
ARC Meetings.

The roles of the ARC include 
the following: 

(i)	 Risk identification and reviewing 
the adequacy and effectiveness of 
financial, operational, compliance 
and information technology 
controls and risk management 
systems to ensure effectiveness 
in the management of risks and 
compliance with internal policies 
and external regulations; 

(ii)	 Review the quarterly and 
annual financial statements, 
and also significant accounting 
and reporting issues and their 
impact on financial statements 
so as to ensure the integrity of 
the financial statements and 
any formal announcements 

relating to the Group’s financial 
performance, and recommend to 
the Board the acceptance of such 
financial statements; 

(iii)	 Review the scope and results of 
the audits undertaken by the 
Internal and External Auditors, 
including non-audit services 
performed by External Auditors 
to ensure that there is a balance 
between maintenance of 
objectivity and cost effectiveness; 

(iv)	 Review Interested Person 
transactions; 

(v)	 Recommend the appointment, 
re-appointment or removal of the 
External Auditors at the AGM and 
review the fees due to them; 

(vi)	 Review the audit plans of the 
Internal and External Auditors; and 

(vii)	 Review the effectiveness of 
the Group’s Whistleblowing 
Policy, which has been put in 
place for staff to raise concerns 
in confidence about possible 
improprieties in matters of 
financial reporting or other 
matters, and ensure that an 
independent investigation and 
appropriate follow-up actions are 
taken. The Whistleblowing Policy 
is described in more detail on page 
43 of this Annual Report. 

Audit and Risk Committee’s Activities
The ARC held four meetings during 
the financial year under review. The 
CEO, Vice President (Special Grade), 
Finance, Group Financial Officer of 
ComfortDelGro, Group Internal Audit 
Officer (GIAO) and the External Auditors 
were present at these meetings. The ARC 
reviewed and considered the following:
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(i)	 Overall scope of both internal and 
external audits and results of their 
respective audits;

(ii)	 Significant internal and 
external audit observations and 
Management’s responses;

(iii)	 Quarterly and full year results 
announcements and the financial 
statements before submission to 
the Board;

(iv)	 Interested person transactions;

(v)	 Adequacy of internal controls;

(vi)	 Independence of the External 
Auditors; and

(vii)	 Re-appointment of External 
Auditors and its remuneration for 
recommendation to the Board.

In the performance of its duties, the 
ARC has explicit authority to investigate 
the affairs falling within its terms 
of reference, with full access to and 
cooperation from Management, 
discretion to invite any Director to 
attend its meetings and reasonable 
resources to enable it to discharge its 
duties properly. 

The ARC meets with the Internal and 
External Auditors in the absence of 
Management annually. During these 
meetings, the Auditors may raise issues 
encountered in the course of their work 
directly to the ARC.

Review of Independence of 
External Auditor 
Prior to the re-appointment of the 
External Auditors, the ARC assesses their 
independence based on the guidelines 
set by the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority. Having satisfied 
itself that the independence of the 
External Auditors, Deloitte & Touche 
LLP, is not impaired by their provision 
of non-audit services to the Group and 

that Rules 712, 715 and 716 of the SGX-
ST Listing Manual have been complied 
with, the ARC has recommended to 
the Board that Deloitte & Touche LLP 
be nominated for re-appointment as 
the Company’s External Auditors at the 
next AGM. 

As a further safeguard of Deloitte & 
Touche LLP’s independence, the Deloitte 
& Touche LLP’s partner-in-charge of 
auditing the Company is changed every 
five years.

Principle 13: 
Internal Audit
The internal audit function of the Group 
is performed by the ComfortDelGro 
Group Internal Audit Division comprising 
suitably qualified and experienced staff 
and is headed by the GIAO. The GIAO 
reports functionally to the Chairman of 
the ARC.

The ComfortDelGro Group Internal 
Audit Division adopts a risk-based 
approach in its continuous audit work. 
Based on the audit plan, it provides an 
independent and objective evaluation 
of the internal control systems and 
corporate governance processes of 
the Group. The audit plan is developed 
by the GIAO in consultation with, but 
independent of, Management and is 
subject to the ARC’s approval before the 
start of each financial year. Quarterly 
internal audit summary reports are also 
prepared and submitted to the ARC on 
the status of audits carried out. Any 
material non-compliance or lapses in 
internal controls are reported to the 
ARC and the CEO for improvements 
to be made. The independence of the 
internal audit function is ensured as the 
ARC meets with the GIAO at least once 
a year in the absence of Management. 
The ComfortDelGro Group Internal 
Audit Division is given unfettered access 
to all the Group’s documents, records, 
properties and personnel, including 
access to the ARC. 

The activities and organisational 
structure of the ComfortDelGro Group 
Internal Audit Division are monitored 
and reviewed by the ARC periodically 
to ensure that it has the necessary 
resources to adequately perform 
its functions and that there are no 
unjustified restrictions and limitations 
placed on the performance of its duties.

The ComfortDelGro Group Internal Audit 
Division has adopted the International 
Standards for the Professional Practice 
of Internal Auditing laid down in the 
International Professional Practices 
Framework issued by the Institute of 
Internal Auditors (IIA Standards). The 
ComfortDelGro Group Internal Audit 
Division successfully completed its 
external Quality Assurance Review in 
2014 by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
and continues to meet or exceed the IIA 
Standards in all key aspects.

4. Shareholders Rights and 
Responsibilities
Principle 14: 
Shareholders Rights
Disclosure of Information to 
Shareholders
The Company notifies Shareholders in 
advance of the date of release of its 
Financial Results through the Company’s 
regularly updated website at www.
vicom.com.sg as well as a SGXNet 
announcement. Communication with 
Stakeholders is conducted through 
announcements to the SGXNet, 
media and analyst briefings after the 
announcement of the Financial Results, 
as well as the posting of announcements 
and press releases on the Company’s 
website. Shareholders may send in 
their requests or queries through the 
feedback channel provided on the 
website. The ComfortDelGro Group’s 
Investor Relations (IR) team is accessible 
throughout the year to address 
Shareholders’ queries. The contact 
details of the Group Investor Relations & 
Special Projects Officer (GIRSPO) can be 
found on the website. 
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Beyond complying with the 
requirements of the Code, the SGX-ST 
Listing Manual and the Companies Act, 
Cap. 50, the Company has also taken 
various additional measures to enhance 
corporate governance and improve 
transparency, including: 

(i)	 The Company has taken steps to 
advertise the Notice of AGM at 
least 28 days before the AGM is 
held; and 

(ii)	 The Company sends electronic 
annual reports (by way of a 
CD-ROM) to all Shareholders 
(including foreign Shareholders) 
at least 21 days before the AGM 
to ensure that all Shareholders 
have adequate time to review 
the annual reports before the 
AGM. The move to electronic 
documentation demonstrates 
the Group’s commitment towards 
Green and sustainable efforts. 
Upon request, hard copies are also 
provided to Shareholders.

Principle 15: 	
Communication with Shareholders
Regular, Effective and Fair 
Communications with Shareholders 
VICOM is committed to actively 
engaging its Shareholders and have 
put in place an IR programme to 
promote regular, effective and fair 
communications with Shareholders 
and the investment community. The 
ComfortDelGro Group IR team works 
with Senior Management to proactively 
carry out this engagement programme. 

Communication with the SGX is handled 
by the Company Secretary, while 
communication with Shareholders, 
analysts and fund managers is handled 
by the GIRSPO. Specific guidelines 
have been laid down for compliance in 
respect of all public communication. The 
Company does not practise selective 
disclosure in the communication of 
material information. In addition, 

the Company has also put in place 
operational procedures to respond 
promptly to queries from the SGX 
on any unusual trading activities in 
its securities.

Dividend Policy 
The Company’s dividend policy is to 
pay out at least 50% of profit after 
taxation attributable to Shareholders 
of the Company. The dividend policy 
takes into account the long-term 
objective of maximising shareholder 
value, availability of cash and retained 
earnings, projected capital expenditure 
and growth opportunities. The Company 
declares dividend semi-annually and 
informs its Shareholders of the dividend 
payments via announcements in the 
SGXNet. 

Principle 16: 	
Conduct of Shareholder Meeting
The Company views the AGM as a good 
opportunity for Shareholders to meet 
the Board and Senior Management 
staff. Shareholders are informed of 
Shareholders’ Meetings through notices 
published in the newspapers and 
circulars sent to all Shareholders. All 
registered Shareholders are invited to 
attend and participate actively in the 
AGM and are given the opportunity to 
seek clarification or question the Group’s 
strategic direction, business, operations, 
performance and proposed resolutions. 

All Directors including the Chairman 
of the Board, CEO and the Chairmen 
of the various Board Committees 
together with Senior Management and 
the Company Secretary are present to 
address any question or feedback raised 
by the Shareholders at the AGM and 
thereafter, including those pertaining 
to the proposed resolutions before the 
resolutions are voted on. The External 
Auditors are also present to address 
Shareholders’ queries about the conduct 
of audit and the preparation and 
contents of the Auditors’ Report. 

The Board had since 2009 decided to 
remove and stop seeking the general 
authority to issue shares to address 
concerns from the Shareholders that 
if this general authority to share issue 
was mandated, the Company could 
subsequently issue shares pursuant to 
this mandate, which would dilute their 
shareholding percentages and affect 
their voting rights.

The Articles of Association of the 
Company provide for voting in person 
and by proxy at the AGM of the 
Company. Each Shareholder is allowed 
to appoint up to two proxies to vote on 
his behalf at Shareholders’ Meetings 
through proxy forms sent in advance. 
With the amendments to the Companies 
Act, Cap. 50 which took effect on 3 
January 2016, relevant intermediaries 
such as the Central Provident Fund and 
custodian banks are entitled to appoint 
more than two proxies to attend, speak 
and vote at the meeting. Shareholders 
who hold shares through these relevant 
intermediaries will be allowed to attend, 
speak and vote at the forthcoming AGM 
subject to being appointed a proxy by 
their respective relevant intermediaries. 
In line with the amendments to the 
Companies Act, Cap. 50, the Company’s 
Articles of Association will also be 
amended, subject to Shareholders’ 
approval, to reflect the same.

Each issue or matter requiring 
Shareholders’ approval is tabled as a 
separate and distinct resolution. All 
the resolutions at the Shareholders’ 
Meetings are single item resolutions. 
The Company will consider implementing 
absentia voting methods such as voting 
via mail, e-mail or fax when security, 
integrity and other pertinent issues are 
satisfactorily resolved. 

The Company prepares minutes 
of general meetings that include 
substantial and relevant comments 
or queries from Shareholders relating 
to the agenda of the meeting and 
responses from the Board and 
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Management. The minutes are available 
to Shareholders upon their request. 

The Company has adopted electronic 
poll voting for general meetings since 
2013 to ensure greater transparency 
and efficiency in the voting process 
and results. Shareholders are invited 
to vote on each of the resolutions by 
poll, using an electronic voting system. 
The voting results of all votes cast for 
or against each resolution are screened 
at the meeting and announced via 
the SGXNet after the meeting. Voting 
by poll is the most accurate means of 
tabulating Shareholders’ votes according 
to the number of shares owned. 
We believe that this will encourage 
greater Shareholders’ participation at 
the Company’s general meetings and 
demonstrates VICOM’s commitment to 
high standards of corporate governance 
and transparency.

5. Additional Measures to 
Enhance Corporate Governance 
The Company has also undertaken 
various additional measures to enhance 
corporate governance as follows: 

Corporate Gifts/Entertainment Policy 
Whilst business gifts and entertainment 
are courtesies that build goodwill and 
sound working relationships among 
business partners, the Group does 
not tolerate the improper use of gifts 
or entertainment to gain any special 
advantage in a business relationship. 

The Group discourages the receipt of 
gifts or acceptance of entertainment, 
loans or other favours as these may 
compromise an employee’s ability 
to make objective, independent and 
fair business decisions. Offering 
excessive gifts in whatever form or 
entertainment to others can also be 
opened to misinterpretation. Employees 
are therefore not permitted to offer 
or accept any gifts or entertainment 

without first seeking their supervisor’s 
authorisation. Where business 
entertainment is deemed appropriate, 
they will be moderately scaled to 
facilitate the achievement of business 
goals and objectives. 

Employees, who receive gifts directly 
or indirectly in relation to their course 
of employment with the Group, are 
expected to notify their supervisors and 
declare such gifts to the Group Human 
Resource Department. All gifts declared 
are processed through structured 
corporate procedures to ensure 
proper accountability. 

Business gifts and entertainment 
presented on the Group’s behalf are 
consistent with generally accepted 
business practices and ethical standards, 
and do not violate any applicable laws, 
regulations or policies of any country we 
operate in or company in which we have 
dealings with.

Block Leave Policy 
As a further risk mitigation measure and 
to enhance governance, the Group has a 
Block Leave Policy in place which applies 
to employees holding key functions. 
This arrangement allows covering 
officers to fully step into the duties of 
the employees on leave, as an additional 
check and balance against any breaches. 

Information Protection Policy 
We have implemented an information 
protection policy to ensure that all 
documents and data information of the 
Group are properly safeguarded.

Information is classified into secret, 
confidential, restricted and unrestricted 
use based on its nature, contents and 
implications. Processes and systems 
used to store, process or communicate 
the information provide protection from 
unauthorised disclosure and use. 

Data Protection Policy 
Business units in Singapore have 
implemented data protection policies 
and practices to ensure compliance 
with the obligations under the Personal 
Data Protection Act and Do Not Call 
provisions that came into force in 2014. 

Interested Person Transactions

Listing Manual – Rule 907 

Name of 
Interested 
Person

Aggregate value 
of all Interested 
Person transactions 
during the financial 
year under 
review (excluding 
transactions less 
than $100,000 
and transaction 
conducted under 
Shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant 
to Rule 920)

ComfortDelGro 
and its 
associates

$1,923,000

There is no Shareholders’ mandate 
for Interested Person transactions 
pursuant to Rule 920 of the 
Listing Manual.
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

General (a)	 Has the Company complied with 
all the principles and guidelines 
of the Code? If not, please state 
the specific deviations and the 
alternative corporate governance 
practices adopted by the Company 
in lieu of the recommendations in 
the Code.

Yes, the Company has complied with all the principles and 
guidelines of the Code except for the detailed disclosure 
of the remuneration of Directors, Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and the Group’s top five key executives. The Board had 
considered this matter carefully and has decided against 
such disclosure. Given the wage disparities and the keen 
competition in the industry and the likely competitive 
pressures resulting from such disclosures, it is felt that the 
disadvantages of disclosure outweigh the benefits.

(b)	 In what respect do these alternative 
corporate governance practices 
achieve the objectives of the 
principles and conform to the 
guidelines in the Code?

The remuneration of the Directors and key executives are 
reviewed and approved by the Remuneration Committee, 
which comprises four non-executive Directors, of whom 
three including the Chairman, are independent. In addition, 
the structure for the payment of Directors’ fees has been 
disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report. Directors’ fees 
are subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting (AGM).

Board Responsibility

Guideline 1.5 What are the types of material 
transactions which require approval from 
the Board?

VICOM has adopted internal guidelines setting forth certain 
matters that require the Board’s approval. Under these 
guidelines, acquisitions of businesses, disposals or changes 
in equity interests in existing subsidiaries/associates, capital 
expenditure, investment in financial instruments, tender 
for businesses above the prescribed limits, assessing and 
approving key business decisions, funding and investment 
initiatives and other corporate actions, including approval 
of the Financial Authority Limits, Annual Budget and 
Capital Expenditure and the release of the quarterly and 
full-year Financial Results require approval from the Board. 
In addition, the acceptance of credit facilities from banks, 
the establishment of capital market programmes and 
the issuance of debt instruments require the approval of 
the Board.

Members of the Board

Guideline 2.6 (a)	 What is the Board’s policy with 
regard to diversity in identifying 
director nominees?

The Board believes that it is important to have diversity 
of competencies including gender diversity to support 
the growth of the Group. The Nominating Committee 
(NC) reviews annually the balance and diversity of skills, 
experience, gender and knowledge required by the Board and 
the size of the Board.

Disclosure on Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance 2012
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

(b)	 Please state whether the current 
composition of the Board provides 
diversity on each of the following 
– skills, experience, gender and 
knowledge of the Company, and 
elaborate with numerical data 
where appropriate.

Yes. The NC is satisfied that the Board and Board Committees 
comprise Directors who as a group provide an appropriate 
balance and diversity of skills, experience, knowledge and core 
competencies required for the Board and Board Committees 
to discharge their responsibilities effectively. The Company 
has one female Director on its Board since 1995.

(c)	 What steps has the Board taken 
to achieve the balance and 
diversity necessary to maximise 
its effectiveness?

The NC reviews the composition of the Board annually 
to ensure that the Board is of an adequate size with the 
right mix of skills and experience that facilitates effective 
decision making.

Guideline 4.6 Please describe the Board nomination 
process for the Company in the last 
financial year for (i) selecting and 
appointing new directors and (ii) re-
electing incumbent directors.

For new Directors
The NC annually reviews the size, effectiveness, diversity 
of skills and core competencies of the Board taking into 
consideration the current and future business needs of 
the Group. 

The NC considers the range of skills, knowledge, attributes 
and experience of the existing Directors, the retirement 
and re-election/re-appointment of Directors, each 
Director’s contribution and commitment and whether new 
competencies are required to enhance the effectiveness of 
the Board. When the need for a new Director arises, the NC 
will shortlist and meet potential candidates and recommend 
the most suitable candidate to the Board for appointment as 
a Director.

For incumbent Directors
Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, one-
third of the Directors retire from office at the Company’s 
AGM. Newly appointed Directors are subject to retirement 
and re-election at the AGM immediately following 
their appointments.

The NC reviewed each of the retiring Director’s contribution 
and performance, such as attendance, preparedness, 
participation and candour, and made the relevant 
recommendations to the Board for subsequent Shareholders’ 
approval at the AGM.

Guideline 1.6 (a)	 Are new directors given formal 
training? If not, please explain why.

Yes.

Disclosure on Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance 2012
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

(b)	 What are the types of information 
and training provided to (i) new 
directors and (ii) existing directors 
to keep them up-to-date?

Management will conduct a comprehensive orientation 
programme for newly appointed Directors, where key 
aspects of the businesses, including financial and corporate 
governance policies are discussed. Site visits will also be 
arranged for new Directors so that they can better familiarise 
themselves with the Group’s operations. When a Director is 
appointed to a Board Committee, he/she is provided with its 
terms of reference.

The Company Secretary assists in professional development and 
training by regularly disseminating details of suitable seminars 
and courses organised by the Singapore Institute of Directors 
and arranging for the Directors to attend such courses when 
requested. The Company Secretary also updates the Board on 
corporate governance practices and circulates articles relating to 
changes in laws relevant to the Group’s businesses. 

Guideline 4.4 (a)	 What is the maximum number 
of listed company board 
representations that the Company 
has prescribed for its directors? 
What are the reasons for 
this number?

The Board has determined that the maximum number of 
listed company board representations held by a Director who 
is not in full-time employment should not exceed six. For a 
Director who is in full-time employment, it should not exceed 
three. This is to ensure that all Directors have sufficient time 
and attention to discharge their duties adequately.

(b)	 If a maximum number has not been 
determined, what are the reasons?

Not Applicable

(c)	 What are the specific considerations 
in deciding on the capacity of 
directors?

The contributions of a Director are key in deciding 
on a Director’s capacity to take on other multiple 
board appointments.

Board Evaluation

Guideline 5.1 (a)	 What was the process upon which 
the Board reached the conclusion 
on its performance for the 
financial year?

In the last quarter of 2015, the NC conducted an evaluation 
of Board Performance which included key points on Board’s 
composition, Board’s contributions, contributions from Board 
Committees and conduct of proceedings and whether the 
Directors had discharged their duties effectively. The findings 
were then presented by the NC Chairman to the Board during 
its Meeting for the Board to deliberate on the findings and 
discuss possible areas of improvement to enhance the Board’s 
overall effectiveness.

(b)	 Has the Board met its 
performance objectives?

Yes. The Board was effective as a whole based on the overall 
assessment for 2015.

Independence of Directors

Guideline 2.1 Does the Company comply with 
the guideline on the proportion of 
independent directors on the Board? 
If not, please state the reasons for the 
deviation and the remedial action taken 
by the Company.

Yes. The Board comprises the CEO and seven non-executive 
Directors. Of the seven non-executive Directors, five of them 
are considered by the NC to be independent which exceeds 
the Code’s requirement of at least half of the Board to 
comprise independent Directors where the Chairman is not 
an independent Director.
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

Guideline 2.3 (a)	 Is there any director who is deemed 
to be independent by the Board, 
notwithstanding the existence of 
a relationship as stated in the Code 
that would otherwise deem him 
not to be independent? If so, please 
identify the director and specify the 
nature of such relationship.

No.

(b)	 What are the Board’s 
reasons for considering him 
independent? Please provide a 
detailed explanation.

Not Applicable.

Guideline 2.4 Has any independent director served 
on the Board for more than nine years 
from the date of his first appointment? 
If so, please identify the director and set 
out the Board’s reasons for considering 
him independent.

Yes, Dr Ho Kah Leong, Mr Ong Teong Wan, Mr Sim Cheok Lim 
and Ms Teo Geok Har, Nancy are independent Directors who 
have served on the Board for more than nine years as at 31 
December 2015.

The NC considered that these Directors have each 
demonstrated independent judgement at Board and Board 
Committee Meetings, and was of the firm view that they have 
at all times been exercising independent judgement in the 
best interests of the Company in the discharge of their duties 
as Directors.

Disclosure on Remuneration

Guideline 9.2 Has the Company disclosed each director’s 
and the CEO’s remuneration as well as 
a breakdown (in percentage or dollar 
terms) into base/fixed salary, variable or 
performance-related income/bonuses, 
benefits in kind, stock options granted, 
share-based incentives and awards, and 
other long-term incentives? If not, what 
are the reasons for not disclosing so?

Disclosures are made in bands of $250,000 and deviation 
from the Code is explained in the Notes to Financial 
Statements as follows:

Given the wage disparities and the keen competition in the 
industry and the likely competitive pressures resulting from 
such disclosures, it is felt that the disadvantages of disclosure 
outweigh the benefits.

Guideline 9.3 (a)	 Has the Company disclosed each 
key management personnel’s 
remuneration, in bands of $250,000 
or in more detail, as well as a 
breakdown (in percentage or dollar 
terms) into base/fixed salary, 
variable or performance-related 
income/bonuses, benefits in kind, 
stock options granted, share-
based incentives and awards, and 
other long-term incentives? If 
not, what are the reasons for not 
disclosing so?

Disclosures are made in bands of $250,000 and deviation 
from the Code is explained in the Notes to Financial 
Statements as follows:

Given the wage disparities and the keen competition in the 
industry and the likely competitive pressures resulting from 
such disclosures, it is felt that the disadvantages of disclosure 
outweigh the benefits.

Disclosure on Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance 2012
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

(b)	 Please disclose the aggregate 
remuneration paid to the top five 
key management personnel (who 
are not directors or the CEO).

Disclosed as an aggregate together with remuneration of 
the Directors and deviation from the Code is explained in the 
Notes to Financial Statements as follows:

Given the wage disparities and the keen competition in the 
industry and the likely competitive pressures resulting from 
such disclosures, it is felt that the disadvantages of disclosure 
outweigh the benefits.

Guideline 9.4 Is there any employee who is an 
immediate family member of a director 
or the CEO, and whose remuneration 
exceeds $50,000 during the year? If so, 
please identify the employee and specify 
the relationship with the relevant director 
or the CEO.

Nil.

Guideline 9.6 (a)	 Please describe how the 
remuneration received by executive 
directors and key management 
personnel has been determined by 
the performance criteria.

The Group advocates a performance-based remuneration 
system that aligns the remuneration of CEO and Senior 
Management to business results and shareholder returns. 
The total remuneration mix comprises fixed and variable 
components. The variable component, in the form of an 
annual performance incentive bonus, forms a significant 
proportion of the remuneration packages.

The annual performance incentive is linked to the Group’s 
and the individual’s performance. The Performance 
Scorecard is used to measure both financial and non-financial 
performance of Senior Executives. The individual’s scorecard 
performance areas are linked to the overall strategic goals and 
objectives of the Group.

(b)	 What were the performance 
conditions used to determine their 
entitlement under the short-term 
and long-term incentive schemes?

The amount and mix of reward incentives, which are 
developed with a focus on long-term shareholders’ 
returns, are responsive to the operating environment and 
labour market. 

In awarding the incentives, the Group takes into account the 
Senior Executive’s performance in four key broad areas of the 
Performance Scorecard, namely	
a) Financial 	
b) Customers 	
c) Processes and 	
d) People Development.
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

(c)	 Were all of these performance 
conditions met? If not, what were 
the reasons?

Yes.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Guideline 6.1 What types of information does the 
Company provide to independent 
directors to enable them to understand 
its business, the business and financial 
environment as well as the risks faced 
by the Company? How frequently is the 
information provided?

Prior to each Board and Board Committee Meeting, 
Management provides Directors with complete, adequate 
and timely information. The Board also receives monthly 
management accounts and quarterly investor relations 
reports covering investor relations activities and updates 
of analysts’ views and comments. This enables the Board to 
make informed and sound business decisions and be kept 
abreast of key challenges, opportunities and developments 
for the Group.

Guideline 13.1 Does the Company have an internal audit 
function? If not, please explain why.

Yes.

Guideline 11.3 (a)	 In relation to the major risks 
faced by the Company, including 
financial, operational, compliance, 
information technology and 
sustainability, please state the 
bases for the Board’s view on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal controls and risk 
management systems.

Risk management is an important and integral part of 
VICOM’s strategic planning and decision-making process. 
Key risks are identified and presented to the Board annually. 
Ownership of the risk management process is clearly defined 
and cascaded to the executive and functional level, with 
stewardship retained at Senior Management. Plans that are 
necessary to manage and mitigate the risks are in place and 
closely monitored. The adequacy of the internal controls in 
place is also assessed as part of the process. Based on these 
reviews, the Board is of the view, with the concurrence of 
the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), that there are adequate 
and effective internal controls in place within the Group to 
address its financial, operational, compliance and information 
technology risks.

(b)	 In respect of the past 12 months, 
has the Board received assurance 
from the CEO and the CFO as well 
as the internal auditor that: (i) the 
financial records have been properly 
maintained and the financial 
statements give true and fair view 
of the Company’s operations and 
finances; and (ii) the Company’s risk 
management and internal control 
systems are effective? If not, how 
does the Board assure itself of 
points (i) and (ii) above?

For the Financial Year (FY) 2015, the Board has received 
assurance from the CEO and the Vice President (Special 
Grade), Finance that (i) the financial records have been 
properly maintained and the financial statements are 
prepared in compliance with the Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards and are correct in all material aspects 
and give a true and fair view of the operations and finances of 
the Group; and (ii) the Group’s risk management and internal 
control systems (including financial, operational, compliance 
and information technology controls) are adequate 
and effective.

Guideline 12.6 (a)	 Please provide a breakdown of the 
fees paid in total to the external 
auditors for audit and non-audit 
services for the financial year.

The audit and non-audit fees to the External Auditors of the 
Company and its subsidiaries for FY 2015 are $64,000 and 
$26,000 respectively.

Disclosure on Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance 2012
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

(b)	 If the external auditors have 
supplied a substantial volume 
of non-audit services to the 
Company, please state the bases 
for the Audit Committee’s view 
on the independence of the 
external auditors.

The ARC undertook a review of the independence and 
objectivity of the External Auditors by reviewing the non-
audit fees awarded to them and has confirmed that the non-
audit services performed by the External Auditors were not 
substantial and would not affect their independence.

Communication with Shareholders

Guideline 15.4 (a)	 Does the Company regularly 
communicate with shareholders 
and attend to their questions? How 
often does the Company meet with 
institutional and retail investors?

Yes, the Company is committed to disseminating accurate and 
pertinent information to the Shareholders in a timely manner. 
Communications with Shareholders and investors are handled 
centrally at the ComfortDelGro Group level. In FY 2015, 
nearly 200 meetings and conference calls were held with 
institutional investors and analysts and also participation in 
10 investor conferences in Singapore, Kuala Lumpur, Hong 
Kong and Tokyo. These provided access to a wide cross-
section of institutional investors from around the world.

For the retail investors, they can send in their queries through 
a link on the Investor Relations (IR) page of the Company’s 
website. The telephone and email contact details of the Group 
Investor Relations & Special Projects Officer are also listed 
on the page. In addition to addressing the questions from 
retail investors over the telephone and email, presentation 
to over 200 retail investors was made at the SGX Corporate 
Connect Seminar.

All Shareholders also have the opportunity to interact and 
speak with the Directors and Senior Management at the 
Company’s AGMs and thereafter. 

(b)	 Is this done by a dedicated IR 
team (or equivalent)? If not, who 
performs this role?

Yes, there is a dedicated IR team, which works closely 
with Senior Management to carry out the investor 
engagement programme.

(c)	 How does the Company keep 
shareholders informed of corporate 
developments, apart from 
SGXNet announcements and the 
annual report?

All announcements to SGX-ST, news releases, financial results, 
financial calendar and the Annual Reports are posted on the IR 
page of the Company’s website.

Guideline 15.5 If the Company is not paying any 
dividends for the financial year, please 
explain why.

Not Applicable.

Annual Report 2015 37



Name Age Present Directorships/
Chairmanships  
(as at 31 December 2015)

Past Directorships/
Chairmanships in listed 
companies held over the 
preceding three years 
(from 1 January 2013 to 
31 December 2015)

Principle 
Commitments

Lim Jit Poh
Chairman 
(Non-executive & 
Non-independent)

76 Principal Directorships in the 
ComfortDelGro Group
•	 ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited*
•	 SBS Transit Ltd*
•	 Beijing Jin Jian Taxi Services Co., Ltd 
•	 Comfort Transportation Pte Ltd
•	 CityCab Pte Ltd
•	 ComfortDelGro Engineering Pte Ltd
•	 CityFleet Networks Limited
•	 ComfortDelGro Cabcharge Pty Ltd
•	 Guangzhou Xin Tian Wei 

Transportation Development Co., Ltd 
•	 Metroline Limited
•	 Swan Taxis Pty Ltd	

Other Companies
•	 Ascott Residence Trust Management 

Ltd*
•	 Family Leisure Pte Ltd
•	 NCI Golf Pte Ltd
•	 Pasir Ris Resort Pte Ltd
•	 SLF Leisure Enterprises (Pte) Ltd
•	 Surbana Property Investment Pte Ltd
•	 CapitaLand Township Development 

Fund Pte Ltd
•	 CapitaLand Township Development 

Fund II Pte Ltd

•	 Maybank Kim Eng Holdings 
Limited*

Nil

Kua Hong Pak
Deputy Chairman
(Non-executive & 
Non-independent)

72 Principal Directorships in the 
ComfortDelGro Group
•	 ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited*
•	 SBS Transit Ltd*
•	 Beijing Jin Jian Taxi Services Co., Ltd 
•	 Comfort Transportation Pte Ltd
•	 CityCab Pte Ltd
•	 ComfortDelGro Engineering Pte Ltd
•	 CityFleet Networks Limited
•	 ComfortDelGro Cabcharge Pty Ltd
•	 Guangzhou Xin Tian Wei 

Transportation Development Co., Ltd 
•	 Metroline Limited
•	 Swan Taxis Pty Ltd
	
Other Companies
•	 PSA Corporation Limited
•	 PSA International Pte Ltd
•	 Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited

•	 Starhub Ltd* Nil

DIRECTORS’ PARTICULARS
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Name Age Present Directorships/
Chairmanships  
(as at 31 December 2015)

Past Directorships/
Chairmanships in listed 
companies held over the 
preceding three years 
(from 1 January 2013 to 
31 December 2015)

Principle 
Commitments

Sim Wing Yew
Chief Executive 
Officer & Director

48 Directorship in the ComfortDelGro 
Group
•	 ComfortDelGro Engineering Pte Ltd	

Directorships in the VICOM Group
•	 VICOM Inspection Centre Pte Ltd 
•	 Setsco Services Pte Ltd 
•	 JIC Inspection Services Pte Ltd
•	 Setsco Consultancy International Pte 

Ltd 
•	 Setsco Services (M) Sdn Bhd
•	 Setsco Middle East Laboratory LLC

Nil Nil

Goh Yeow Tin
Director 
(Non-executive & 
Lead Independent)

65 Other Companies
•	 TLV Holdings Limited*
•	 Lereno Bio-Chem Ltd*
•	 Sheng Siong Group Ltd*
•	 AsiaPhos Limited*
•	 Singapore Post Limited*
•	 Edu-Community Pte Ltd
•	 Linknet Asia Pte Ltd
•	 Seacare Manpower Services Pte Ltd
•	 Seacare Medical Holdings Pte Ltd
•	 WaterTech Pte Ltd

•	 OEL (Holdings) Limited* Nil

Ho Kah Leong
Director 
(Non-executive & 
Independent)

78 Other Companies
•	 Fuxing China Group Ltd*
•	 KOP Ltd*
•	 Ang Mo Kio – Thye Hua Kwan 

Hospital Ltd
•	 Pioneers & Leaders (M) Sdn Bhd

•	 Superbowl Holdings Ltd* Nil

*Listed Company

Annual Report 2015 39



Name Age Present Directorships/
Chairmanships  
(as at 31 December 2015)

Past Directorships/
Chairmanships in listed 
companies held over the 
preceding three years 
(from 1 January 2013 to 
31 December 2015)

Principle 
Commitments

Ong Teong Wan
Director 
(Non-executive & 
Independent)

77 Other Companies
•	 LTC Corporation Ltd*
•	 ManagementWise (International) 

Pte Ltd

Nil •	 Singapore Training 
and Development 
Association 
(Advisory Council – 
Member)

•	 The Singapore Scout 
Association (Scout 
Council – Member)

Sim Cheok Lim
Director 
(Non-executive & 
Independent)

78 Nil •	 Boardroom Limited* Nil

Teo Geok Har, 
Nancy
Director 
(Non-executive & 
Independent)

61 Other Company
•	 Dashmesh Singapore Pte. Ltd.

Nil Nil

*Listed Company

DIRECTORS’ PARTICULARS
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Risk management is an important and integral part of the 
VICOM Group’s strategic planning and decision making 
process. The Group’s Risk Management Framework enables 
the business units to understand the nature and complexity 
of the risks involved in their business operations and provides 
a systematic process for the business units to identify and 
review the risks and prioritise resources to manage them. 

The Group’s approach to risk management is underpinned by 
several key principles:

•	 The risk management process is a continuous, 
iterative and developing one, as the Group’s businesses 
and their operating environments are dynamic. Risk 
identification and assessment and risk management 
practices are reviewed and updated regularly to manage 
risks proactively.	

•	 We promote and inculcate risk awareness among all our 
employees by embedding risk management processes into 
day-to-day business operations and setting an appropriate 
tone at the top. Regular exercises, continuous education 
and training, as well as communications through various 
forums on risk management are carried out to sustain a 
risk-informed and risk-aware culture in the Group.	

•	 Ownership of and accountability for the risk management 
process is clearly defined and assigned to the business 
units, departments and individuals. Managers at each level 
have intimate knowledge of their businesses and assume 
ownership of risk management, with stewardship retained 
at Senior Management.	

Risk tolerance guidelines for inherent risks are established and 
monitored. The Group is committed to enhance shareholder 
value through growth that is sustainable and profitable and 
taking measured and well-considered risks to achieve it. We 
identify and manage risks to reduce the uncertainties that are 
associated with the execution of the Group’s business plans 
and allow the Group to take advantage of opportunities that 
may arise.

The Group’s business has significant everyday interactions with 
many customers. The different business units have different 
risk profiles and they have different programmes to manage 
the risks. The risk management programmes are tested and 
stressed periodically to ensure that they remain relevant and 
meet changing business requirements. 

Key risks for the Group are identified and presented to the 
Audit and Risk Committee and the Board annually. Some of the 
key risks faced by the Group, the relevant mitigating factors 
and how they are managed are set out below.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial Risks
The Group has established internal control systems to 
safeguard its assets and regularly reviews the effectiveness 
of these controls to improve and fortify financial discipline. 
All policies and procedures on financial matters, including 
approval limits and authority, are clearly defined in the Group’s 
Financial Procedures Manual. 

Financial Authority Limits
Comprehensive and specific financial authority limits are put 
in place for capital expenditure, operating expenses, treasury 
matters, direct investments, revenue tender participation 
and disposal and write-off of assets. These authority limits 
are delegated based on the organisational hierarchy from the 
Board down to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Heads 
of Business Units/Departments, with the Board retaining the 
ultimate authority. Any expenditure exceeding the highest 
authority limit is referred to the Board for approval. To ensure 
that the Group’s assets continue to be managed prudently, 	
the Board periodically reviews the mandate that it delegates 	
to Management.

Budgetary Control
A robust and challenging Annual Budget is prepared and 
approved by the Board prior to the commencement of each 
new financial year. Material variations between actual and 
budgeted performance are reviewed on a monthly basis and 
explanations provided. Specific approvals are required for 
unbudgeted expenditures exceeding a relevant threshold. 
The capital expenditure budget is approved in principle by the 
Board as part of the Annual Budget. Each capital expenditure 
is subjected to rigorous justification and review before it is 
incurred in accordance with the Group’s financial authority 
limits. Tight control on manpower is exercised through 
headcount budgets.

Financial Risk Management
The Group recognises that prudent management of financial 
risks is an important aspect in the creation of shareholder 
value. The main areas of financial risks faced by the Group are 
interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. It is the Group’s 
policy not to participate in financial derivative instruments. 
Sensitivity analysis and reviews of the Group’s exposure to 
financial risks under changing market conditions are carried 
out regularly. 

A detailed description of the financial risks and how the 
Group manages them are set out in the Notes to the Financial 
Statements on pages 57 to 86.

Economic cycle
Macro economics conditions may impact the businesses in 
terms of customer demand and the cost of providing the 
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services. We manage these risks by continuously scanning and 
monitoring political and economic issues. We monitor demand 
trends and operating margins closely. Expenses are managed in 
the light of revenue patterns and changing market conditions 
and to drive improvements in cost structures. Revenue risks are 
mitigated by diversifying revenue streams.

Operational Risks
Operational risks may arise from failures in internal controls, 
operational processes or the supporting systems. The Group 
has put in place operating manuals, standard operating 
procedures, authority guidelines and a regular reporting 
framework to manage these risks.

Safety
Managing the safety and security of our customers and our 
staff is the cornerstone of the Group’s safety and security 
plan. We run safety awareness and training programmes to 
instil a safety and security conscious culture in employees 
at all levels. Safety audits are conducted regularly as part of 
the management and review process to ensure that safety 
standards are maintained. 

Environmental
The Group is committed to being a socially responsible 
organisation through minimising the impact our business 
activities have on the environment. Our operations, accidents 
and natural events can cause pollution or other environmental 
risks. To limit these risks, we engage in active environmental 
risk management, ensuring that we target the problems that 
could arise and implement preventive measures. Ways in which 
the Group works to protect the environment can be found in 
our Sustainability Report.

Human Resource
The Group’s ability to develop and grow the business depends 
on the quality of its employees and it continues to invest in 
building up a resource pool to support this growth. We have in 
place various programmes and processes that focus on several 
key areas, including building management bench strength, 
talent management, succession planning, performance 
management, compensation and benefits, training and 
development, employee conduct and supervision, as well as 
occupational health and safety. We ensure that employees are 
selected based on merit, they understand their responsibilities 
and are given access to necessary training. At all times, a 
positive, constructive and productive working climate based on 
strong tripartite relations is fostered. All terms and conditions 
of employment, along with policies and procedures, comply 
with the relevant regulations.

Property and Liability
The Group’s exposure to property damage, business 
interruption and other liability risks is constantly monitored 
and reviewed. Together with external risk management 
consultants, we ensure sufficiency of insurance coverage and 
maintain an optimal balance between risks that are retained 
internally and risks that are placed out with underwriters.

Business Continuity 
We have put in place Business Continuity Plans (BCPs) to 
mitigate the risks of disruption and catastrophic loss to our 
operations, people, information database and other assets. The 
BCPs include identification and planning of alternate recovery 
centres, operational procedures to maintain communication, 
measures to ensure continuity of critical business functions 
and recovery of information database. We update and test the 
BCPs regularly. Drills and emergency response exercises are 
conducted to familiarise employees with the various incident 
management plans. The BCPs enhance the Group’s operational 
readiness and resilience to potential business disruptions.

Information Technology Risks
Information technology system failures are key risks for 
the Group since almost all the businesses rely heavily on 
information technology. This can take the form of a major 
system failure which can result in disruption of the business, 
loss of data or a security breach of our information technology 
systems. Information security means protecting information 
and information systems from unauthorised access, use, 
disclosure, disruption, modification or destruction. The Group’s 
information technology security management framework 
complies with current industry standards. We have put in place 
various controls and data recovery measures to mitigate the 
risks, including the use of intrusion prevention systems, multi-
level firewalls, server protection, software code hardening and 
data loss prevention controls to manage Internet security and 
Cyber threats. Penetration tests are carried out regularly to test 
the systems and identify potential security vulnerabilities and 
allow us to improve the security hardening of our websites. 
Information security policies and procedures, including security 
education for all staff, are reviewed and enhanced regularly.

Compliance Risks
The Group operates in a regulated environment in that vehicle 
inspection may only be carried out by persons authorised by 
the LTA. Any change in vehicle inspection policy may affect 
the Group. We work closely with the regulatory authorities 
as part of our risk management process to keep abreast of 
developments and policies that may affect our businesses and 
the competitive landscape. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
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We have implemented data protection policies and practices to 
ensure compliance with the obligation under the Personal Data 
Protection Act and Do Not Call provisions that came into force 
in 2014 in Singapore.

Strategic Risks
We evaluate each new business proposal to ensure that it is 
in line with the Group’s strategy and investment objective 
and it can meet the relevant hurdle rates of return. This 
assessment includes macro and project specific risks analysis 
covering feasibility study, due diligence, financial modelling 
and sensitivity analysis of key investment assumptions and 
variables. To ensure that the rate of return on any new business 
opportunity commensurate with the risk exposure taken, 
the new opportunity is evaluated in terms of (a) profitability; 
(b) return on investment; (c) pay back period; (d) cash flow 
generation; (e) potential for internal and external growth; and 
(f) investment climate and political stability of the country. The 
business proposal has to be approved according to the financial 
authority limits approved by the Board.

Audit Process
The Internal and External Auditors conduct reviews in 
accordance with their audit plans to assess the adequacy of 
the internal controls that are in place. Non-compliance and 
recommendations for improvements are reported to the 
Audit and Risk Committee, which reviews the effectiveness 
of the actions taken to mitigate the risks. In the course of 
their audits, the Internal and External Auditors highlight 
to the Audit and Risk Committee and Management areas 
where there are material deficiencies and weaknesses or the 
occurrence or potential occurrence of significant risk events 
and propose mitigating measures and treatment plans. The 
recommendations are followed up as part of the Group’s 
continuous review of the system of internal controls.

Code of Business Conduct and Whistle  
Blowing Policy
The Group has adopted a Code of Business Conduct which sets 
out the principles and policies upon which our businesses are 
conducted, as well as implemented a Whistle Blowing Policy 
to provide a mechanism for employees to raise concerns, 
through well-defined and accessible confidential disclosure 
channels about possible improprieties in financial reporting 
or other improper business conduct. Employees are given a 
Company handbook detailing how they can go about raising 
their concerns. Incidents can also be reported through a direct 
link to the CEO, the ComfortDelGro Group Human Resource 
Officer or the ComfortDelGro Group Internal Audit Officer on 
the Group’s Intranet.

All cases are investigated and dealt with promptly and 
thoroughly. An officer appointed by the CEO will oversee all 
investigations. In cases where the laws have been infringed, 
the relevant regulatory authorities will be informed. The Audit 
and Risk Committee will also be informed. Where appropriate, 
internal control measures are improved or additional measures 
put in place to prevent recurrence of the incidents.

Opinion of The Board
Risk management is an important and integral part of VICOM’s 
strategic planning and decision-making process. Key risks are 
identified and presented to the Board annually. Ownership of 
the risk management process is clearly defined and cascaded to 
the executive and functional level, with stewardship retained 
at Senior Management. Action plans that are necessary to 
manage the risks are in place and closely monitored. The 
adequacy of the internal controls in place is also assessed as 
part of the process. Based on these reviews, the Board is of the 
view, with the concurrence of the Audit and Risk Committee, 
that there are adequate and effective internal controls in 
place within the Group to address its financial, operational, 
compliance and information technology risks.
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

* Provisional – Updates will be posted on www.vicom.com.sg

Announcement of 2014 Full Year Results 9 February 2015

Annual General Meeting 21 April 2015

Announcement of 1st Quarter 2015 Results 11 May 2015

Payment of 2014 final and special dividends (18.25 cents/share) 7 May 2015

Announcement of 2nd Quarter 2015 Results 11 August 2015

Payment of 2015 interim dividend (8.75 cents/share) 26 August 2015

Announcement of 3rd Quarter 2015 Results 11 November 2015

Announcement of 2015 Full Year Results 4 February 2016

Annual General Meeting 26 April 2016

Announcement of 1st Quarter 2016 Results 10 May 2016*

Payment of 2015 final and special dividends (19.75 cents/share) 	
(Subject to Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting)

12 May 2016

Announcement of 2nd Quarter 2016 Results 10 August 2016*

Announcement of 3rd Quarter 2016 Results 9 November 2016*

2015

2016
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2015 and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company as at 31 
December 2015.

In the opinion of the Directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 51 to 86 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2015, and the financial performance, changes in equity and 
cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, 
there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

1	 DIRECTORS
	 The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

	 Lim Jit Poh	    (Chairman)
	 Kua Hong Pak	    (Deputy Chairman)
	 Sim Wing Yew	   (Chief Executive Officer)
	 Goh Yeow Tin
	 Ho Kah Leong
	 Ong Teong Wan
	 Sim Cheok Lim
	 Teo Geok Har, Nancy

2	 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS
	 BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES
	� Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement whose 

object is to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures in 
the Company or any other body corporate, except for the options mentioned in paragraphs 3 and 4 below.

3	 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES
	� The Directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital and 

debentures of the Company and its related corporations as recorded in the register of Directors’ shareholdings kept by the 
Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, except as follows:

Shareholdings registered in the name of Directors
Name of Directors and companies
in which interests are held 

At 1 January
2015 

At 31 December
2015 

At 21 January
2016 

Interest in the Company

(a) Ordinary shares

Lim Jit Poh 190,000 190,000 190,000
Kua Hong Pak 54,000 54,000 54,000
Ho Kah Leong 39,000 39,000 39,000
Ong Teong Wan 40,000 40,000 40,000
Sim Cheok Lim 100,000 100,000 100,000
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3	 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES (cont’d)
Shareholdings registered in the name of Directors

Name of Directors and companies
in which interests are held 

At 1 January
2015 

At 31 December
2015 

At 21 January
2016 

Interest in related company,
SBS Transit Ltd 

(a) Ordinary shares

Lim Jit Poh -       -       -       
Sim Wing Yew 10,000 10,000 10,000
Kua Hong Pak 90,000 90,000 90,000

(b) Options to subscribe for ordinary shares

Lim Jit Poh -       -       -       
Kua Hong Pak -       -       -       
Sim Wing Yew 340,000 340,000 340,000

Interest in holding company,
ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited

(a) Ordinary shares

Lim Jit Poh 24,425 4,425 4,425
Kua Hong Pak 324,530 1,524,530 1,524,530
Sim Wing Yew 350,000 420,000 420,000
Ho Kah Leong 83,540 83,540 83,540

(b) Options to subscribe for ordinary shares

Lim Jit Poh 720,000 240,000 240,000
Kua Hong Pak 7,200,000 6,000,000 6,000,000
Sim Wing Yew 370,000 200,000 200,000

4	 SHARE OPTIONS
	 The 2001 VICOM Share Option Scheme (“The 2001 Scheme”)
	� The 2001 Scheme for a period of 10 years was approved by the shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary General 

Meeting held on 27 April 2001. It expired on 26 April 2011 and hence no option has been granted since then. The existing 
options granted will continue to vest according to the terms and conditions of The 2001 Scheme and the respective grants.  The 
2001 Scheme is administered by the Remuneration Committee comprising Messrs Teo Geok Har, Nancy (Chairman), Ho Kah 
Leong, Lim Jit Poh and Sim Cheok Lim.

	 Statutory information regarding options granted pursuant to The 2001 Scheme is as follows:

	 -	� the dates of expiration of options as defined in the circular dated 5 April 2001 are 10 years after the relevant offer 
date for the Executive Options, and 5 years after the relevant offer date for the Non-Executive Options, unless such 
option has ceased by reason of Rule 11 of the Rules of The 2001 Scheme relating to termination of employment, 
bankruptcy, misconduct or death of the grantee;
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4	 SHARE OPTIONS (cont’d)
	 -	 the options may be exercised only after the first anniversary of the relevant offer dates of the options; and

	 -	� the persons to whom the options have been granted may also be eligible for participation in any other share option 
scheme implemented by any subsidiary or associated company (as the case may be) of the Company, at the absolute 
discretion of the Remuneration Committee administering The 2001 Scheme.

	� As at the end of the financial year, details of the unissued ordinary shares of the Company under options granted pursuant 
to The 2001 Scheme were as follows:

Number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares

Date of grant

Outstanding
at 1 January

2015  Exercised Lapsed

Outstanding
at

31 December
2015 

Subscription
price

   per share    Expiry date

13 July 2010 20,000 - - 20,000 $2.680 12 July 2020
20,000 - - 20,000

	 (i)	� The last grant of share options was issued to the Directors of the Company on 24 February 2005 and expired on 
23 February 2010. As such, there were no share options granted to the Directors since 24 February 2005 and no 
outstanding share options held by the Directors since 23 February 2010 as all options granted were exercised.  Details 
of the options granted and exercised by the Directors since the commencement of The 2001 Scheme up to 31 
December 2015 are not disclosed as there were no movements in options granted and exercised and such details 
had been disclosed in the prior years.

	 (ii)	� No options have been granted to the controlling shareholders or their associates, parent group employees, and no 
employee has received 5% or more of the options available under the scheme.

	 (iii)	 No options have been granted at a discount to the market price of shares of the Company.

5	 AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
	 At the date of this report, the Audit and Risk Committee comprises four non-executive independent Directors:

Goh Yeow Tin 	   (Chairman)
Ho Kah Leong
Ong Teong Wan
Teo Geok Har, Nancy

The Audit and Risk Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act, 
Cap. 50 and the Code of Corporate Governance 2012.

	� In performing its functions, the Audit and Risk Committee reviewed the overall scope of both internal and external audits 
and the assistance given by the Company’s officers to the auditors. It met with the Company’s internal and external auditors 
four times during the year to discuss the scope and results of their respective audits, and at least once annually without the 
presence of Management.  The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the independence of the external auditors, Deloitte 
& Touche LLP, including the scope of the non-audit services performed and confirmed that the auditors are independent.

	� In addition, the Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the financial statements of the Group and of the Company before 
their submission to the Board of Directors of the Company and provided assurance to the Board on the adequacy of financial, 
operational, compliance and information technology controls.
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5	 AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE (cont’d)
	� The Audit and Risk Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given the 

resources required for it to discharge its function properly. It also has full discretion to invite any director and executive 
officer to attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit and Risk Committee.

	� The Audit and Risk Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors, the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for re-
appointment as auditors of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

6	 AUDITORS
	 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Lim Jit Poh
Chairman

Sim Wing Yew
Chief Executive Officer

Singapore
4 February 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of VICOM Ltd

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of VICOM Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which 
comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 31  December 2015, the income statement, 
comprehensive income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement of the Group and the statement of 
changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, as set out on pages 51 to 86.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising and maintaining 
a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from 
unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the 
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2015 and 
the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended 
on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary corporations 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

4 February 2016
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 December 2015

The Group The Company
Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 100,064 91,028 98,193 88,653
Trade receivables 6 13,762 13,297 2,281 1,964
Other receivables and prepayments 7 1,662 1,190 788 442
Inventories         19         21      -           -     
Total current assets 115,507 105,536 101,262   91,059

Non-current assets
Subsidiaries 8 -     -     25,941 25,941
Associate 9 25 25 -     -     
Club memberships 10 251 283 251 283
Vehicles, premises and equipment 11 49,638 52,120 26,407 27,618
Goodwill 12   11,325   11,325      -           -     
Total non-current assets   61,239   63,753   52,599   53,842

Total assets 176,746 169,289 153,861 144,901

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 21,205 21,413 4,608 3,887
Due to subsidiaries 14 -     -     38,631 38,927
Income tax payable    6,567    6,502    2,601    2,273
Total current liabilities   27,772   27,915   45,840   45,087

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities 15    1,722    1,486       240       208

Total liabilities   29,494   29,401   46,080   45,295

Capital, reserves and non-controlling interests
Share capital 16 36,225 36,225 36,225 36,225
Other reserves 17 3,078 3,078 3,078 3,078
Foreign currency translation reserve (244) (107) -     -     
Accumulated profits 107,196   99,707   68,478   60,303
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 146,255 138,903 107,781 99,606
Non-controlling interests       997       985      -           -     
Total equity 147,252 139,888 107,781   99,606

Total liabilities and equity 176,746 169,289 153,861 144,901

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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GROUP INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

The Group
Note 2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Revenue 18 106,707 108,165

Staff costs 19 (45,916) (47,078)
Depreciation and amortisation 11 (6,101) (6,008)
Repairs and maintenance costs (1,436) (1,741)
Materials and consumables (2,647) (3,224)
Contract services (3,866) (4,285)
Premises costs (3,728) (3,622)
Utilities and communication costs (1,641) (2,097)
Other operating costs   (4,924)   (4,490)
Total operating costs  (70,259)  (72,545)

Operating profit 36,448 35,620

Interest income    1,133       669

Profit before taxation 37,581 36,289

Taxation 20   (5,701)   (5,691)

Profit after taxation 21   31,880   30,598

Attributable to:
   Shareholders of the Company 31,417 30,142
   Non-controlling interests       463       456

  31,880   30,598

Earnings per share (in cents):
   Basic 22     35.45     34.02

   Diluted 22     35.45     34.01

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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GROUP COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

The Group
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Profit after taxation 31,880 30,598

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
   Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations      (137)       (14)

Other comprehensive income for the year      (137)       (14)

Total comprehensive income for the year   31,743   30,584

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

   Shareholders of the Company 31,280 30,128

   Non-controlling interests       463       456
  31,743   30,584

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2015

The Group 
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 

Share
capital

$’000

Other
reserves

$’000

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

$’000

Accumulated
profits

$’000
Total

$’000

Non-
controlling

interests
$’000

Total
equity
$’000

Balance at 1 January 2014 35,912 3,100  (93)   90,170 129,089    979 130,068

Total comprehensive income for the year 

   Profit for the year    -         -       -   30,142 30,142 456 30,598
   Other comprehensive income for the year     -         -      (14)      -             (14)    -            (14)
   Total     -         -      (14)   30,142   30,128    456   30,584

Transactions recognised directly in equity

   Exercise of share options(Notes 16 and 17) 313 (22) -      -      291    -     291
   Payment of dividends (Note 27)     -         -       -    (20,605)  (20,605)    -      (20,605)
   Total      313     (22)   -    (20,605)  (20,314)    -      (20,314)

Payments to non-controlling interests     -         -       -        -           -        (450)      (450)

Balance at 31 December 2014 36,225 3,078 (107)   99,707 138,903    985 139,888

Total comprehensive income  for the year 

   Profit for the year    -         -       -   31,417 31,417 463 31,880
   Other comprehensive income for the year     -         -     (137)      -           (137)    -          (137)
   Total     -         -     (137)   31,417   31,280    463   31,743

Transactions recognised directly in equity

   Payment of dividends (Note 27)     -         -       -   (23,928)  (23,928)    -      (23,928)
   Total     -         -       -   (23,928)  (23,928)    -      (23,928)

Payments to non-controlling interests     -         -       -        -           -        (451)      (451)

Balance at 31 December 2015 36,225 3,078 (244) 107,196 146,255    997 147,252

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2015

The Company 
Share Other Accumulated Total

capital reserves profits  equity
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2014 35,912 3,100 51,009 90,021

Profit for the year, representing
   total comprehensive income for the year     -         -     29,899 29,899

Transactions recognised directly in equity

   Exercise of share options (Notes 16 and 17) 313 (22)     -      291
   Payment of dividends (Note 27)     -         -     (20,605)  (20,605)
   Total      313    (22) (20,605)  (20,314)

Balance at 31 December 2014 36,225 3,078 60,303   99,606

Profit for the year, representing
   total comprehensive income for the year     -         -     32,103   32,103

Transactions recognised directly in equity

   Payment of dividends (Note 27)     -         -     (23,928)  (23,928)
   Total     -         -     (23,928)  (23,928)

Balance at 31 December 2015 36,225 3,078 68,478 107,781

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Operating activities
Profit before taxation 37,581 36,289
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 6,101 6,008
Interest income (1,133) (669)
(Gain) Loss on disposal of vehicles, premises and equipment (5) 11
Allowance for expected credit losses 613 216
Bad debts written off          6         3

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 43,163 41,858

Trade receivables (1,084) 274
Other receivables and prepayments (118) 245
Inventories 2 (1)
Trade and other payables      (208)     428

Cash generated from operations 41,755 42,804

Income tax paid   (5,400)  (5,051)
Net cash from operating activities   36,355 37,753

Investing activities
Purchase of vehicles, premises and equipment (3,719) (5,101)
Proceeds from disposal of vehicles, premises and equipment 13 27
Interest received       779      579

Net cash used in investing activities   (2,927)  (4,495)

Financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of share options -     291
Payments to non-controlling interests (451) (450)
Dividends paid (Note 27)  (23,928) (20,605)

Net cash used in financing activities  (24,379) (20,764)

Net effect of exchange rate changes in consolidating subsidiaries        (13)        (1)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 9,036 12,493
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   91,028 78,535
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 5) 100,064 91,028

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1	 GENERAL
	� The Company (Registration No. 198100320K) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with its registered office at 205 

Braddell Road, Singapore 579701. Its principal place of business is at 385 Sin Ming Drive, Singapore 575718. The Company is 
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

	� The principal activities of the Company are those of an investment holding company and the provision of motor vehicle 
evaluation and other related services. The principal activities of the companies in the Group are in the business of testing 
services which include the provision of motor vehicle inspection services and provision of non-vehicle testing, inspection and 
consultancy services, as described in Note 8.

	� The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand ($’000) 
except when otherwise indicated.

	� The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 and the statement of 
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company as at 31 December 2015 were authorised for issue by 
the Board of Directors on 4 February 2016.

2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
	� BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis, except as 

disclosed in the accounting policies below and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies 
Act, Cap. 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”).

	 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

	� Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company takes into account the 
characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability 
at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements 
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based 
Payments, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to 
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in FRS 2 Inventories or value in use in FRS 36 Impairment of Assets.

	� ADOPTION OF REVISED FINANCIAL STANDARDS - In the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised 
FRSs that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2015.

	� The adoption of these new and revised FRSs has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years, 
except for changes arising from the adoption of FRS 109.

	� The Group has early adopted FRS 109 Financial Instruments for the period beginning 1 January 2015 to conform with the 
ultimate holding company’s accounting policies. 

	� The accounting policies were changed to comply with FRS 109.  FRS 109 replaces the provisions of FRS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement that relate to the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 
and impairment requirements for financial assets. FRS 109 also significantly amends other standards dealing with financial 
instruments such as FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

	 Classification and measurement of financial assets
	� All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of FRS 39 are now required to be subsequently measured at amortised 

cost or fair value through profit or loss.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
	 Impairment requirements for financial assets

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, FRS 109 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred 
credit loss model under FRS 39. The Group has accounted for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit 
losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. 

The Management has assessed that the impact of the initial adoption of FRS 109 to the Group is on (a) the classification of 
trade and receivables from loans and receivables under FRS 39 to financial assets at amortised cost under FRS 109 and (b) its 
impairment of trade receivables. The Management has determined that the adoption of FRS 109 had no significant impact 
on the amounts recorded in the Group Income Statement and Statements of Financial Position in the prior periods, hence, 
the comparative figures have not been restated. 

	 �NEW/REVISED STANDARDS AND IMPROVEMENTS TO THE STANDARDS NOT YET ADOPTED - The Group has not applied the 
following accounting standards that are relevant to the Group and have been issued as at the end of the reporting period but 
are not yet effective:

	 •	� Improvements to Financial Reporting Standard (November 2014) 1

	 •	� FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

	 •	� Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure Initiative1

	 1	 Applies to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early application permitted.
	 2	 Applies to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted.

	 These standards are not expected to have any material impact on the Group’s financial statements when they are adopted.

	 �BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the Company:

	 •	� Has power over the investee;
	 •	� Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
	 •	� Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

	� The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company 
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the Group income statement and Group comprehensive income statement from the date the Company gains 
control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line 
with the Group’s accounting policies.

	� Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries 
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which 
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
	 All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

	� Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity 
therein.  Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination 
(see below) and the non-controlling interests’ share of changes in equity since the date of the combination.  Losses are 
attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

	� In the statement of financial position of the Company, investments in subsidiaries and associates are carried at cost less any 
impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

	� BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 
for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of acquisition, of assets given, liabilities 
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree in exchange for 
control of the acquiree. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions 
for recognition under FRS 103 Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date except for 
deferred tax assets or liabilities which are recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The interest of the non-controlling shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities as recognised.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of financial 
position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

	 Financial assets
	� All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending 

on the classification of the financial assets.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances and short-term deposits that are readily convertible to a known amount 
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade and other receivables
	� Trade receivables and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market 

are classified as “trade and other receivables”. Trade and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for expected credit 
losses. Receivables at amortised cost are assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows. Interest is recognised 
by applying the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would 
be immaterial.

Provision for impairment of financial assets
	 Trade and other receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

	� The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised cost. 

	� For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted under FRS 109, which requires expected lifetime 
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. 

	 The carrying amount of the trade and other receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
	� When a trade and other receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 

amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are 
recognised in profit or loss.

	� In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the receivables from 
the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date and expected credit losses as at end of the reporting period. It 
considers available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information, where relevant.

	� A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within a specific period after the 
credit period granted.

	� A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include taking into consideration 
observable data about the significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; a breach of contract, such as a default or 
past due event; it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

	� Where receivables have been written off, the Group continues to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these 
are recognised in profit or loss.

	 Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

	� Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments 
	� An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its 

liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Trade and other payables
	� Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

	� LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

	 The Group as lessor
	 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

	 The Group as lessee
	� Rentals payable under operating leases (net of any incentive received from lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-

line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

	� In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The 
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

	 �INVENTORIES - Inventories, comprise of spare parts for the testing services equipment, are stated at cost. Cost comprises 
cost of purchase and those costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 
Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out method.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
	 �CLUB MEMBERSHIPS - Club memberships acquired are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 

impairment losses.

	 �VEHICLES, PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT - Vehicles, premises and equipment are stated at cost or valuation, less accumulated 
depreciation and any provision for impairment.

	� All vehicles, premises and equipment are initially recorded at cost. One leasehold land was revalued based on valuation by 
an external independent valuer. That leasehold land of the Company and of the Group was valued at open market value on 
the basis of existing use by a firm of professional valuers in March 1995. The Group and the Company have no fixed policy on 
the frequency of valuation of its leasehold land. As the valuation was carried out for the purpose of updating the book value 
of the leasehold land at that time and was a one-off revaluation, the Group and the Company have opted for an exemption 
under FRS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment to further revalue its leasehold land. All other vehicles, premises and equipment 
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation.

	� On the disposal of premises carried at valuation, the revaluation surplus relating to the premises is transferred directly to 
accumulated profits.

	� Capital projects in progress comprising development and construction costs incurred during the period of construction 
are carried at cost, less any recognised provision for impairment. Depreciation on these assets, on the same basis as other 
vehicles, premises and equipment, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

	� Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of the assets, other than capital projects in progress, over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

	 Leasehold land and buildings				   -	 Over the remaining lease period
	 Furniture, fittings and equipment			   -	 5 years
	 Workshop machinery, tools and equipment		  -	 5 to 20 years
	 Motor vehicles					     -	 5 years
	 Computers and automated equipment		  -	 5 years

	� The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

	� On disposal of an item of vehicles, premises and equipment, the difference between the sale proceeds and its carrying 
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

	 Fully depreciated vehicles, premises and equipment still in use are retained in the financial statements.

ASSOCIATES – An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the 
equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case it 
is accounted for in accordance with FRS 105. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised 
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds 
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net 
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised 
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
	� Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included 
within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment.  Any excess of the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, 
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

	� Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the relevant associate.

	 �GOODWILL - Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the 
Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary recognised 
at the date of acquisition. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the acquisition, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

	 Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any provision for impairment.

	� For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested 
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the provision for impairment is allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on 
the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. A provision for impairment recognised for goodwill is not reversed 
in a subsequent period.

	� On divestment of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss 
on  divestment.

	 �IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS - At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its 
tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the provision for impairment (if any). Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

	� Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

	� If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  A provision for impairment is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

	� Where provision for impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash- generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no provision for impairment been recognised for the asset (cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of provision for impairment is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

	 �PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group and the Company will be required to settle that obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
	� The amount recognised as a provision is the present value of the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 

the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation.

	 SERVICE BENEFITS - These comprise the following:

	 (i)	 �Retirement Benefits - The Company and some of the subsidiaries participate in defined contribution retirement 
benefit plan (Central Provident Fund for Singapore-incorporated subsidiaries and Employees Provident Fund for 
Malaysia-incorporated subsidiary). Payments made to the plan are charged as an expense as they fall due.

	 (ii)	 �Employee Leave Entitlement - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. 
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the 
end of the reporting period.

	 (iii)	� Share-Based Payments - Under The 2001 Scheme which expired on 26 April 2011, the Company issued share options 
to certain employees and Directors.  Share options are measured at fair value of the equity instruments (excluding 
the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant.  The fair value determined at the grant date 
of the share options is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period with a corresponding adjustment 
against share option reserve, based on the Group’s and the Company’s estimate of the number of equity instruments 
that will eventually vest.

		�  Fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model.   The expected life used in the model has been 
adjusted, based on Management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 
behavioural considerations.

	� GOVERNMENT GRANT – Government grant are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply 
with the conditions attaching to them and the grant will be received. Government grants whose primary condition is that 
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the 
statement of financial position and transferred to profit and loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of 
the related assets.

	� Government grants in relation to expenses incurred are recognised as other operating income in the period which they 
become receivable. 

	� REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of discounts 
and sales related taxes.

	 Rendering of services
	 Revenue from testing services is recognised as and when service is completed.

	� Where the outcome of a consultancy project cannot be estimated reliably, project revenue is recognised to the extent of 
project costs incurred that are probably recoverable. Project costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they 
are incurred.

	� When it is probable that total project costs will exceed total project revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an 
expense immediately.

	 Interest income
	� Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 

rate applicable.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
	 Dividend income
	 Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

	 �INCOME TAX - Current income tax liabilities (and assets) for current and prior periods are recognised at the amounts 
expected to be paid to (or recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

	� Deferred income tax assets/liabilities are recognised for deductible/taxable temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation 
and future tax benefits from certain provisions not allowed for tax purposes until a later period. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised.

	� Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where 
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

	� The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

	� Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to items credited 
or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case the tax is also 
recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), or where they arise from the 
initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in 
calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

	� FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of each Group entity are 
presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The 
consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity 
of the Company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation 
currency for the consolidated financial statements.

	� In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of each reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. 
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on 
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated.

	� Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are included in 
profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are 
included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items in respect 
of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange 
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
	� For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations 

(including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting 
period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, 
unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulate in 
the Group’s currency translation reserve. Such translation differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
the foreign operation is disposed of.

	� On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities (including 
monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of borrowings and other currency 
instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the currency translation reserve.

3	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
	 OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
	 Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
	� In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, Management is required to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Management is of the opinion that any instances 
of applications of judgements are not expected to have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements (apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

	� The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
	� The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 

period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year, are discussed below.

	 Impairment review of goodwill
	� The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be 

impaired.

	� Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units (“CGU”) 
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows 
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. No provision 
for impairment has been recognised. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in 
Note 12.

	� The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value 
in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to profit margins during 
the period.

	� The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by Management for the 
next year and extrapolates cash flows for the following 4 years based on an estimated growth rates of approximately 2.9% 
(2014 : 3.0%). The estimated growth rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets and 
countries in which the CGU operates. 

	 The discount rate applied to the forecast is assumed at 5.80% (2014 : 5.21%).
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3	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
	 OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)
	� The expected changes to profit margins are based on past performance and Management’s expectation of market 

development.

	� As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, any reasonably possible changes to the key assumptions applied are not 
likely to cause the recoverable amount to be below the carrying amount of the CGU.

	 Allowance for expected credit losses
	� The Group makes allowances for expected credit losses based on an assessment of the recoverability of trade receivables. The 

impairment provisions for trade receivables are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The 
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the 
Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

	� The identification of loss allowance requires use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the 
original estimate, such difference will have an impact on the carrying amount of the trade receivables and loss allowance in 
the period in which such estimate has been changed. The carrying amount of trade receivables is disclosed in Note 6.

	 Useful lives of vehicles, premises and equipment
	� As described in Note 2, the Group reviews the estimated useful lives of vehicles, premises and equipment at the end of each 

annual reporting period. During the financial year, Management determined that the estimated useful lives of vehicles, 
premises and equipment are appropriate and no material revision is required.

	 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
	� Determining whether investments in subsidiaries are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of these 

investments.   The value in use calculation requires the Company to estimate the future cash flows expected from these 
investments and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. Management has evaluated the recoverability 
of these investments based on such estimates. The carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries is disclosed in Note 8 to 
the financial statements.

4	 HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED COMPANY/PARTY TRANSACTIONS
	� The Company is a subsidiary of ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited, incorporated in the Republic of Singapore, which is also 

the Company’s ultimate holding company. Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of the holding 
company’s group of companies.

	� Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements and terms thereof are arranged by or between members of the holding 
company’s group of companies. The intercompany balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless 
otherwise stated.

	� Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related companies of the Company, have been eliminated 
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.
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4	 HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED COMPANY/PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)
	 Significant related company transactions are as follows:

The Group
2015

$’000
2014

$’000

Testing services fee income charged to related companies (2,348) (2,080)
Diesel outlet (variable rental) income charged to related company (422) (432)
Rental income charged to related companies (455) (211)
Assessment fee charged to related companies (327) (343)
Other fees charged to related companies (77) (84)
Corporate service charges paid to holding company 350 350
Other charges paid to holding company 107 90
Other charges paid to related companies 319 397
Rental expense paid to related companies    206    198

	� The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received. No expense 
has been recognised in the period for bad debts or loss allowance in respect of the amounts owed by related companies.

5	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The Group The Company

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Cash and bank balances 2,015 2,560 608 703
Fixed deposits with financial institutions   98,049 88,468 97,585 87,950
Total 100,064 91,028 98,193 88,653

	� Fixed deposits are placed on a staggered basis based on the Group’s cash flow projections, bear interest at effective interest 
rates of between 1.17% to 1.95% (2014 : 0.56% to 1.45%) per annum and for a weighted average tenure of approximately 384 
days (2014 : 371 days). These deposits are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

6	 TRADE RECEIVABLES
The Group The Company

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Outside parties 14,308 13,230 797 519
Allowance for expected credit losses (789) (287) (21) (24)
Allowance for discount allowed    (300)    (221)    -        -    
Net 13,219 12,722 776 495

Holding company (Note 4) -     -     -    -    
Subsidiaries (Note 4) -     -     1,324 1,237
Related companies (Note 4)     543     575    181    232
Total 13,762 13,297 2,281 1,964
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6	 TRADE RECEIVABLES (cont’d)
	 The average credit period on sale of goods and provision of services is 30 days (2014 : 30 days).

	� Before accepting any new corporate customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit 
limits by customer.

	� An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the provision of services to outside parties 
of $789,000 (2014 : $287,000).   This allowance which has been determined by reference to past default experience and 
expected credit losses, ranging from 2.2% to 3.2% (2014 : 2.0% to 13.0%) for receivable that are current to more than 180 
days past due. The expected credit losses incorporate forward looking estimates. In calculating the expected credit loss 
rates, the Group and the Company considers historical loss rates for each category of customers, taking into consideration 
information including internal and external credit ratings, and adjust for forward-looking macroeconomic data.

	� Approximately 67% (2014 : 74%) of the Group’s trade receivables are neither past due nor impaired. Included in the Group’s 
trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $3,991,000 (2014 : $3,235,000) which are past due at the 
reporting date for which the Group has not provided an allowance as there has not been a significant change in credit 
quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.  The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.  On the 
average, these trade receivables are past due for 66 days (2014 : 47 days).

	� Approximately 95% (2014 : 92%) of the Company’s trade receivables are neither past due nor impaired. Included in the 
Company’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $95,000 (2014 : $126,000) which are past due at 
the reporting date for which the Company has not provided an allowance as there has not been a significant change in credit 
quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Company does not hold any collateral over these balances. On 
the average, these trade receivables are past due for 34 days (2014 : 17 days).

	 Movements in allowance for expected credit losses:
The Group The Company

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Balance at beginning of the year 287 143 24 18
Amounts written off during the year (111) (72) - - 
Increase (Decrease) in allowance recognised in profit or loss 613 216  (3)   6
Balance at end of the year 789 287 21 24

	� The Group’s and Company’s trade receivables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities 
are as follows:

The Group The Company
2015

$’000
2014

$’000
2015

$’000
2014

$’000

Denominated in:

Malaysian ringgit 110 109  -   - 
United States dollars 181   82  -   - 

As at 31 December 2015, included in the gross carrying amounts of the trade receivables and allowance of the Group and 
the Company are credit impaired financial assets amounting to $525,000 (2014 : $287,000) and $8,000   (2014 : $24,000) 
respectively.

During the year, the credit impaired financial assets of the Group and the Company written off amounted to $111,000 
(2014 : $72,000) and $Nil (2014 : $Nil) respectively; and the allowance recognised in profit or loss amounted to $349,000 
(2014 : $216,000) and reversal of $16,000 (2014 : $6,000) respectively.
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6	 TRADE RECEIVABLES (cont’d)
During the year, the gross carrying amounts of trade receivables of the Group and the Company transferred from lifetime 
expected credit losses to credit impaired financial assets amounted to $349,000 (2014 : $216,000) and $Nil (2014 : $6,000) 
respectively.

7	 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS
The Group The Company

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Other receivables 536 420 29 -  
Interest receivable 655 302 628 281
Deposits 199 216 14 12
Prepayments    272    252 117 149
Total 1,662 1,190 788 442

	� The Group’s and Company’s other receivables and interest receivable are due from outside parties and these receivables are 
current. The Company has not recognised any allowance as the management assessed the credit risk to be low.

8	 SUBSIDIARIES
The Company
2015

$’000
2014

$’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 25,941 25,941

	 Details of subsidiaries at 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Name of entity Principal activity

Country of
incorporation/
operation

Company’s
effective interest  

Cost of
investment

2015 2014 2015 2014
% % $’000 $’000

VICOM Inspection Provision of vehicle Singapore 100 100   4,160   4,160
Centre Pte Ltd inspection services

JIC Inspection Vehicle inspection and Singapore 78 78 5,663 5,663
Services Pte Ltd other related services

Setsco Services Provision of testing, Singapore 100 100 16,118 16,118
Pte Ltd inspection and 

consultancy services

Subsidiaries of Setsco Services Pte Ltd

Setsco Services Provision of testing, Malaysia 100 100 -  - 
(M) Sdn Bhd inspection and

consultancy services

Setsco Consultancy Provision of professional Singapore 100 100 -  - 
International inspection and
Pte Ltd engineering services

25,941 25,941
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8	 SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)
	� All the companies are audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore, except for Setsco Services (M) Sdn Bhd, which is audited 

by another firm of auditors, WT Ng & Co, Kuala Lumpur.

	� The Group is in compliance with Listing Rules 712 and 715 of The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited as suitable 
auditing firms have been appointed to meet the Group’s audit obligations. In accordance to Rule 716, the Audit and Risk 
Committee and Board of Directors of the Company confirmed that they are satisfied that the appointment of different 
auditors for Setsco Services (M) Sdn Bhd would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Group.

	 Information about the composition of the Group at the end of the financial year is as follows:

Principal activity
Place of incorporation
and operation 

Number of wholly-
owned subsidiaries 

2015 2014

Provision of vehicle inspection services Singapore 1 1

Provision of testing inspection and consultancy services Singapore 1 1

Provision of professional inspection and engineering services Singapore 1 1

Provision of testing inspection and consultancy services Malaysia 1 1

   4    4

Principal activity
Place of incorporation
and operation

Number of non wholly-
owned subsidiaries

2015 2014

Vehicle inspection and other related services Singapore     1     1

9	 ASSOCIATE
The Group The Company

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 50 50   -     -  
Less: Share of post-acquisition reserves (25) (25)   -     -  
Net 25 25   -     -  

	 a)	 Details of the associate at 31 December 2015 is as follows:

Associate of Setsco
Consultancy
International Pte Ltd Principal activity

Country of
incorporation/

operations   

Group’s 
effective interest 

Cost of
investment

2015
%

2014
%

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Setsco Middle East Provision of testing, Abu Dhabi, 49 49 50 50
Laboratory LLC inspection, training, United Arab

certification and Emirates/
consultancy services Dormant
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9	 ASSOCIATE (cont’d)
		�  The associate was set up on 30 November 2010 and has been dormant since 2012. The accounts have not been 

audited. The associate is insignificant.

	 b)	� Summarised financial information for the year ended 31 December 2015 in respect of the Group’s associate is set out 
below:

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Total assets 80 80
Total liabilities (29) (29)
Net assets 51 51

Group’s share of associate’s net assets 25 25

Loss for the year  -   - 

Group’s share of associate’s loss for the year  -   - 

10	 CLUB MEMBERSHIPS
The Group

and The Company
2015

$’000
2014

$’000

Cost:
   At beginning and end of year 451 451

Accumulated amortisation:
   At beginning of year 32 -  
   Amortisation for the year   32   32
   At end of the year   64   32

Accumulated impairment:
   At beginning and end of year 136 136

Carrying amounts at end of year 251 283

In 2014, the Company had reassessed the useful life of the club membership from indefinite useful life to 10 years. Accordingly, 
the Company has amortised the club membership over 10 years.
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11	 VEHICLES, PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
 buildings

$’000

Leasehold
land

$’000

Furniture,
fittings

and
equipment

$’000

Workshop
machinery,

tools and
equipment

$’000

Motor
vehicles

$’000

Computers
and 

automated
 equipment

$’000

Capital 
projects in 

progress
$’000

Total
$’000

Group

Cost or valuation:
   At 1 January 2014 58,196 14,813 1,470 36,169 2,250 1,370 83 114,351
   Additions 432    -      125 3,641 584 85 523 5,390
   Disposals (3,138)    -      (515) (3,684) (140) (311) -  (7,788)
   Transfers from capital 

   projects in progress 72    -      -    55 -     -     (127)      -     
   Exchange differences      (13)     -         -            (6)      (3)    -       -          (22)
   At 31 December 2014 55,549 14,813 1,080 36,175 2,691 1,144 479 111,931
   Additions 450    -      184 1,946 533 454 152 3,719
   Disposals    -         -      (65) (1,157) (263) (101) -  (1,586)
   Transfers from capital 

   projects in progress 461    -         -        -         -        -     (461)      -     
   Exchange differences    (117)     -           (3)      (58)    (29)      (3)   -        (210)
   At 31 December 2015 56,343 14,813 1,196 36,906 2,932 1,494 170 113,854

Comprising:
   At cost 56,343 7,513 1,196 36,906 2,932 1,494 170 106,554
   At valuation     -        7,300    -         -         -        -       -      7,300
   Total 56,343 14,813 1,196 36,906 2,932 1,494 170 113,854

Accumulated
   depreciation:
   At 1 January 2014 28,425 3,760 585 26,239 1,293 1,292   -   61,594
   Depreciation 1,933 411 294 2,893 371 74   -   5,976
   Disposals (3,138) -      (513) (3,656) (132) (311)   -   (7,750)
   Exchange differences        (1)     -         -            (6)      (2)    -       -            (9)
   At 31 December 2014 27,219 4,171 366 25,470 1,530 1,055   -   59,811
   Depreciation 1,970 412 302 2,901 416 68   -   6,069
   Disposals    -         -      (63) (1,153) (261) (101)   -   (1,578)
   Exchange differences      (17)     -            (2)      (47)     (17)      (3)   -          (86)
   At 31 December 2015 29,172   4,583    603 27,171 1,668 1,019   -     64,216

Carrying amounts:
   At 31 December 2015 27,171 10,230    593   9,735 1,264   475 170   49,638

   At 31 December 2014 28,330 10,642    714 10,705 1,161     89 479   52,120
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11	 VEHICLES, PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Leasehold
 buildings

$’000

Leasehold
land

$’000

Furniture,
fittings 

and
equipment

$’000

Workshop
machinery,

tools and
equipment

$’000

Motor
vehicles

$’000

Computers
and 

automated
equipment

$’000

Capital 
projects in

progress
$’000

Total
$’000

Company

Cost or valuation:
   At 1 January 2014 38,073 14,813 223 2,264 135 121   -   55,629
   Additions 124    -      34 3   -   35 10 206
   Disposals     -          -       (26)      (3)   -    (23)   -        (52)
   At 31 December 2014 38,197 14,813 231 2,264 135 133 10 55,783
   Additions 178    -      48 23   -   325   -   574
   Disposals     -          -      (11) (4)   -   (22)   -   (37)
   Transfers from capital  

   projects in progress        10     -        -      -       -     -    (10)     -     
   At 31 December 2015 38,385 14,813 268 2,283 135 436   -   56,320

Comprising:
   At cost 38,385 7,513 268 2,283 135 436   -   49,020
   At valuation     -        7,300   -      -       -     -     -     7,300
   Total 38,385 14,813 268 2,283 135 436   -   56,320

Accumulated
   depreciation:
   At 1 January 2014 21,824 3,761 158 527 78 97   -   26,445
   Depreciation 1,183 411 23 129 14 12   -   1,772
   Disposals     -          -       (26)      (3)   -    (23)   -        (52)
   At 31 December 2014 23,007 4,172 155 653 92 86   -   28,165
   Depreciation 1,186 411 26 136 13 13   -   1,785
   Disposals     -          -       (11)      (4)   -    (22)   -        (37)
   At 31 December 2015 24,193   4,583 170    785 105   77   -   29,913

Carrying amounts:
   At 31 December 2015 14,192 10,230   98 1,498   30 359   -   26,407

   At 31 December 2014 15,190 10,641   76 1,611   43   47   10 27,618
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11	 VEHICLES, PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)
	� During the year, the Group acquired vehicles, premises and equipment with an aggregate cost of $3,719,000 

(2014 : $5,390,000) of which $Nil (2014 : $289,000) was paid in the previous financial years and recorded as deposits.

	 Details of the Company’s and the Group’s leasehold land and buildings are as follows:

Held by

Group’s
effective
  interest   Location

Approximate
land area    Tenure Usage

The Company 100% No. 511 Bukit 9,625.0 30 years from Inspection, 
Batok Street 23 sq metre October 1995 testing and
Singapore 659545 with option assessment

to renew services
another 30 years

The Company 100% No. 385 Sin Ming 10,852.6 30 years from Inspection,
Drive sq metre January 2011 assessment
Singapore 575718 services

The Company 100% No. 501 Yishun 5,190.3 60 years from Inspection
Industrial Park A sq metre July 1983 services
Singapore 768732

The Company 100% No. 501 Yishun 1,104.9 30 years from Inspection
Industrial Park A sq metre July 2013 services
Singapore 768732

The Company 100% No. 23 Kaki Bukit 9,796.9 30 years from Inspection,
Avenue 4 sq metre January 1997 assessment
Singapore 415933 with option services

to renew
another 30 years

The Company 100% No. 20 Changi 6,015.0 30 years from Inspection
North Crescent sq metre May 1995 services
Singapore 499613

Setsco Services 100% No. 18 Teban 9,829.7 30 years from Testing,
Pte Ltd Gardens Crescent sq metre February 2009 inspection and

Singapore 608925 consultancy
services

Setsco Services 100% 31 Jln Industri Mas 12 791.5 99 years from Testing,
(M) Sdn Bhd Taman Mas sq metre December 2009 inspection and

47100 Puchong consultancy
Selangor Darul Ehsan services
West Malaysia
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11	 VEHICLES, PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Held by

Group’s
effective
  interest   Location

Approximate
land area    Tenure Usage

JIC Inspection 78% No. 53 Pioneer Road 9,190.0 30 years from Inspection
Services Pte Ltd Singapore 628505 sq metre December 1994 services

JIC Inspection 78% No. 15 Ang Mo Kio 2,145.0 3 years from Inspection
Services Pte Ltd Street 63 sq metre March 2014 services

Singapore 569117

12	 GOODWILL
The Group

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Carrying amount:
   At beginning and end of year 11,325 11,325

	� Goodwill acquired in business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected 
to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

The Group
2015

$’000
2014

$’000

Testing and inspection services 9,268 9,268
Vehicle inspection services   2,057   2,057

11,325 11,325

	� The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be 
impaired.
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13	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
The Group The Company

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Outside parties 2,543 3,018 719 607
Holding company (Note 4) 97 81 54 50
Related companies 51 56 2 2
Accruals 15,298 14,849 2,935 2,317
Deferred income 612 842 -    -    
Deposits received from customers 1,100 947 484 486
Others   1,504   1,620    414    425
Total 21,205 21,413 4,608 3,887

	 The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 days (2014 : 30 days).

14	 DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES
	� Included in the payable to subsidiaries is an amount of $36,787,000 (2014 : $36,937,000) pertaining to funds held under 

central pooling which is unsecured and repayable on demand. Subsidiaries, except wholly-owned subsidiaries, receive 
interest at the rate of 1.20% to 1.70% (2014 : 0.68% to 1.43%) per annum.

15	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
	� The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group and Company, and the movements thereon, 

during the current and prior reporting periods:
Accelerated

tax
depreciation

$’000
Provisions

$’000
Total

$’000

Group

At 1 January 2014 1,680 (220) 1,460
Charge (Credit) to profit or loss for the year (Note 20)    101  (75)      26
At 31 December 2014 1,781 (295) 1,486
Charge to profit or loss for the year (Note 20)    188   48    236
At 31 December 2015 1,969 (247) 1,722

Company

At 1 January 2014 384 (193) 191
Charge to profit or loss for the year       2   15      17
At 31 December 2014 386 (178) 208
Charge to profit or loss for the year       1   31      32
At 31 December 2015    387 (147)    240
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16	 SHARE CAPITAL
The Group and The Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
Number of ordinary shares $’000 $’000

Issued and paid up:
   At beginning of year 88,622,000 88,499,000 36,225 35,912
   Exercise of share options        -              123,000     -           313
   At end of year 88,622,000 88,622,000 36,225 36,225

	 Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends.

	 Share options
	� As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, employees held options of 20,000 ordinary shares in aggregate. The number 

of options and their expiry dates are as follows:

Number of options Expiring on

20,000 12 July 2020

	� Share options granted under the employees share option plan carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. Further 
details of the employee share option plan are contained in Note 19(e).

17	 OTHER RESERVES
The Group The Company

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Share option reserve:
   At beginning of year 5 27 5 27
   Exercise of share options    -        (22)    -        (22)
   At end of year       5       5       5       5

Revaluation reserve:
   At beginning and end of year 3,073 3,073 3,073 3,073

Net 3,078 3,078 3,078 3,078

	� The revaluation reserve relates to valuation of leasehold land (Note 11), which is not available for distribution to the 
Company’s shareholders.

	� The share option reserve arises from the grant of share options to employees under the employee share option plan. Further 
information about share-based payments to employees is set out in Notes 16 and 19(e).
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18	 REVENUE
The Group

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Inspection and testing services 102,544 104,267
Rental income 2,741 2,556
Others    1,422    1,342

106,707 108,165

19	 STAFF COSTS
	 a)	 Directors’ remuneration (included in staff costs)
		�  The remuneration of the Directors is determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard to the performance 

of the individual and the Group, as follows:

The Group

Remuneration band Salary
%

Bonus
%

Others
%

Total
compensation

%

2015

$250,000 to $499,999

Sim Wing Yew 49 46 5 100

2014

$250,000 to $499,999

Sim Wing Yew 48 47 5 100

		�  The remuneration of all the other non-executive Directors is below $250,000 and comprised entirely of Directors’ 
fees (Note 21).
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19	 STAFF COSTS (cont’d)
	 b)	 Key executives’ remuneration (included in staff costs)
		�  The remuneration of the key executives (excluding Directors of the Group) is determined by the Remuneration 

Committee having regard to the performance of the individuals and the Group, as follows:

The Group

Remuneration band Salary
%

Bonus
%

Others
%

Total
compensation

%

2015

$250,000 to $499,999
No. of executives : 3 51 38 11 100

Below $250,000
No. of executives : 3 61 32 7 100

2014

$250,000 to $499,999
No. of executives : 3 51 38 11 100

Below $250,000
No. of executives : 3 62 32 6 100

		�  The Code of Corporate Governance 2012 recommends the disclosure of the remuneration of the Directors and 
the Group’s top five key executives. The Board had considered this matter carefully and has decided against such 
disclosure. Given the wage disparities and keen competition in the industry and the likely competitive pressures 
resulting from such disclosures, it is felt that the disadvantages of disclosure outweigh the benefits.

	 c)	� The remuneration of the Directors and key executives comprises mainly of short term benefits amounting to 
$2,646,000 (2014 : $2,495,000).

d) The Group
2015

$’000
2014

$’000

Cost of defined contribution plans
    (included in staff costs) 4,270 4,305

		�  The employees of the Company and some of the subsidiaries are members of defined contribution retirement 
schemes. The Company and these subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage of their payroll costs 
to the retirement schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Company and these subsidiaries with 
respect to the schemes is to make the specified contributions.
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19	 STAFF COSTS (cont’d)
	 e)	 Share-based Payments (included in staff costs)

		  Share option scheme 
		�  The Company has a share option scheme for certain employees and Directors of the Company which expired on 

26 April 2011 and hence no option has been granted since then. The existing options granted will continue to vest 
according to the terms and conditions of the scheme and the respective grants. The scheme is administered by 
the Remuneration Committee. Information on the share option plans is disclosed in paragraph 4 to the Directors’ 
statement.   Options are exercisable at a subscription price determined with reference to the market price of the 
shares at the time of grant of the options.    The vesting period is 1 year. If the options remain unexercised after 
a period of 10 years (5 years for non-executive Directors) from the date of the grant, the options expire.  Options 
granted will lapse when the option holder ceases to be a full-time employee or a Director of the Group, subject to 
certain exceptions at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee.

The Group and The Company
2015  2014 

Number of
share options

Weighted
average
exercise

price   
$

Number of
share options

Weighted
average
exercise

price   
$

Outstanding at the
   beginning of the year 20,000 2.68 143,000 2.41
Exercised during the year     -      - (123,000) 2.37
Outstanding at the
   end of the year 20,000 2.68   20,000 2.68

Exercisable at the
   end of the year 20,000 2.68   20,000 2.68

		�  The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was $Nil 
(2014 : $5.66). The options outstanding at the end of the year have an average remaining contractual life of 4.5 years 
(2014 : 5.5 years).

		  No options were granted since 2011.

		  From 2006 onwards, no options were granted to non-executive Directors.
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20	 TAXATION
The Group

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Taxation charge (credit) in respect of profit for the financial year:
   Current taxation
      Singapore 6,358 5,875
      Foreign 72 45
   Deferred tax (Note 15) (2) 211
Adjustments in respect of under (over) provision in prior years:
   Current taxation (965) (255)
   Deferred tax (Note 15)     238    (185)

  5,701   5,691

	� The taxation charge varied from the amount of taxation charge determined by applying the Singapore income tax rate of 
17% (2014 : 17%) to profit before taxation as a result of the following differences:

The Group
2015

$’000
2014

$’000

Profit before taxation 37,581 36,289

Taxation at the domestic income tax rate of 17% (2014 : 17%) 6,389 6,169
Non-allowable items 428 381
Tax-exempt income (104) (135)
Overprovision in prior years (net) (727) (440)
Tax benefits under Productivity and Innovation Credit Scheme (299) (290)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiary operating in
   other jurisdiction       14         6

  5,701   5,691
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21	 PROFIT AFTER TAXATION
	� In addition to the charges and (credits) disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the income statement, this item includes the 

following charges (credits):
The Group

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Directors’ fees 390 351
Foreign currency exchange adjustment loss 129 15
(Gain) Loss on disposal of vehicles, premises and equipment (5) 11
Allowance for expected credit losses 613 216
Bad debts written off 6 3
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 5 5
Government Grants:
   Special Employment Credit Scheme (172) (164)
   Wage Credit Scheme (626) (381)
Audit fees:
   Auditors of the Company 64 64
   Other auditors 2 2
Non-audit fees:
   Auditors of the Company 26 22
   Other auditors     1     1

22	 EARNINGS PER SHARE
	� Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Group’s net profit attributable to shareholders of the Company for the year 

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year as follows:

2015 2014

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company ($’000) 31,417 30,142

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 88,622 88,610

Basic earnings per share (in cents)   35.45   34.02

	� For the purpose of calculating the diluted earnings per ordinary share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 
issue is adjusted to take into account the dilutive effect arising from share options.

2015 2014

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company ($’000) 31,417 30,142

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 88,622 88,610

Adjustments for share options (thousands)        11        11

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
   diluted earnings per share (thousands) 88,633 88,621

Diluted earnings per share (in cents)   35.45   34.01
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23	 SEGMENT INFORMATION
	� The Group operates predominantly in Singapore. All vehicle inspection and non-vehicle testing services are managed and 

reported together as one segment in order to improve productivity and efficiency as these services have similar economic 
characteristics and processes.  Hence there are no other reportable segments to be presented. 

24	 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
	 The Group has the following capital commitments contracted but not provided for in the financial statements:

The Group
2015

$’000
2014

$’000

Purchase of vehicles, premises and equipment 1,626 1,020

25	 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessee

The Group
2015

$’000
2014

$’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the year   1,925   1,982

	� The annual rentals for certain premises are subject to review every year at a variable rate up to a maximum of 5.5% (2014 : 
5.5%) of the immediate preceding years’ annual rent. Leases are negotiated for an average term of 30 years and rentals are 
fixed for an average of a year.

	� At the end of the reporting period, the Group has commitments in respect of non-cancellable operating leases, at prevailing 
rental rates, as follows:

The Group
2015

$’000
2014

$’000

Within one year 2,155 1,999
In the second to fifth year inclusive 7,197 6,846
After five years 17,863 18,634
Total 27,215 27,479

	 The Group as lessor
	� The Group rents out their lettable space in Singapore. Rental income earned by the Group during the year was $2,741,000 

(2014 : $2,556,000).

	� At the end of the reporting period, the Group has contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:
The Group

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Within one year 2,218 1,808
In the second to fifth year inclusive   2,109   1,895
Total   4,327   3,703
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26	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
	� The Group recognises that management of financial risk is an important aspect in its drive towards creating shareholders’ 

value.  It is the Group’s policy not to participate in speculative financial instruments.  Management oversees financial risk 
management and regularly reviews its policy governing risk management practices.

	� There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures 
the risk. 

	 Foreign exchange risk management
	� The Group operates predominantly in Singapore and therefore is not exposed to any material foreign currency exchange risk.

	 Interest rate risk management
	� The Group’s exposure to interest rate risks relate primarily to its fixed deposit placements with financial institutions. The 

Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rate available without exposing itself to any unnecessary risk. 
Interest rate risk is managed by placing deposits on varying maturities and terms. Based on the current interest rate level, 
any future variations in interest rates are not expected to have significant impact on the Group’s results.

	 Credit risk management
	� The Group has policies in place to ensure that customers are of adequate financial standing and have appropriate credit 

history. In its management of credit risk, the Group practises stringent credit review and sets counterparty credit limits. 
There is no significant concentration of credit risk.

	 Cash and deposits are kept with reputable financial institutions. There is no significant concentration of credit risk.

	� The carrying amount of financial assets represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements.

	 Liquidity risk management
	� The Group regularly reviews its liquidity position comprising free cash flows from its operations and credit facilities with 

banks. It ensures that there are sufficient credit lines available to support its liquidity needs.
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26	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
	 Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
	� The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and payables, provisions and other 

liabilities approximate the respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

	� The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 
making the measurements.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

	 a.	 quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

	 b.	� inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly (Level 2); and

	 c.	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (Level 3).	

	 Capital risk management policies and objectives
	� The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 

maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the equity balance.

	� The Group’s capital management objectives are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise 
shareholder value. Management monitors the gross and net gearing of the Group and its implication on weighted average 
cost of capital in deciding the optimal capital structure. These objectives determine the Group’s decisions on the amount of 
dividends to be paid to shareholders and the sources of capital to be raised, be it equity or debt.

	 No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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27	 DIVIDENDS
	 (a)	 During the financial year, the Company paid dividends as follows:

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year:
   -  8.75 cents (2014 : 8.1 cents) per ordinary share
         tax-exempt one-tier 7,755 7,178

Special dividend in respect of the previous financial year:
   -  9.50 cents (2014 : 6.4 cents) per ordinary share
         tax-exempt one-tier 8,418 5,672

Interim dividend in respect of the current financial year:
   -  8.75 cents (2014 : 8.75 cents) per ordinary share
         tax-exempt one-tier   7,755   7,755

Total 23,928 20,605

	 (b)	 Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Directors of the Company recommended that:

(i)	� a tax-exempt one-tier final dividend of 9.50 cents per ordinary share totalling $8,418,000 be paid for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2015; and

(ii)	� a tax-exempt one-tier special dividend of 10.25 cents per ordinary share totalling $9,085,000 be paid for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2015.

The dividends are subject to approval by shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and hence the 
proposed dividends have not been accrued as a liability for the current financial year.
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No. of shares issued	 :	 88,632,000
Class of shares	 : 	Ordinary shares
Voting rights	 : 	One vote per ordinary share

 
Size of Shareholdings

No. of 
Shareholders

 
%

No. of  
Shares

 
%

1 - 99 1 0.04 2 0.00
100 - 1,000 1,460 53.52 1,327,198 1.50
1,001 - 10,000 1,023 37.50 4,087,300 4.61
10,001 - 1,000,000 239 8.76 14,876,200 16.78
1,000,001 & above 5 0.18 68,341,300 77.11
Total 2,728 100.00 88,632,000 100.00

Top Twenty Shareholders No. of Shares %
ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited 59,440,000 67.06
Raffles Nominees (Pte) Ltd 3,713,600 4.19
DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 1,971,552 2.22
Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 1,716,148 1.94
Quah Wee Lai 1,500,000 1.69
Chu Chee Leong 942,000 1.06
Sze Thiam Siong 772,000 0.87
United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 611,300 0.69
Mrs Helen Ong Yong Khee nee Tang Helen @ Helen Tan Siok Wan 527,000 0.59
Morgan Stanley Asia (S) Securities Pte Ltd 500,300 0.56
Low Lan Eng 430,000 0.49
Chia Nam Toon or Dora Oh Phaik Hong 405,900 0.46
CIMB Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd 382,800 0.43
Tan Keng Soon Homer 328,000 0.37
Tam Wui Kuern 324,000 0.37
Poh Eng Choo 310,000 0.35
Tan Kuangxu 307,000 0.35
Pang Cheow Jow 301,000 0.34
OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 261,600 0.30
HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 235,500 0.27
Total 74,979,700 84.60

Substantial Shareholder (as shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders) No. of Shares %
ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited 59,440,000 67.06

As at 7 March 2016, approximately 31.59% of the issued ordinary shares of VICOM Ltd is in the hands of the public. Rule 723 of the 
Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited has been complied with.  

SHAREHOLDING STATISTICS
As at 7 March 2016
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

VICOM Ltd 
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore) 
(Co. Reg. No.: 198100320K)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Thirty-Fifth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at the Auditorium, ComfortDelGro 
Headquarters, 205 Braddell Road, Singapore 579701 on Tuesday, 26 April 2016 at 10.00 a.m. for the purpose of transacting the 
following business:

Ordinary Business:

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements for the Financial Year ended 
31 December 2015 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

(Resolution 1)

2. To declare a tax-exempt one-tier final dividend of 9.5 cents per ordinary share and a tax-exempt one-tier 
special dividend of 10.25 cents per ordinary share in respect of the Financial Year ended 31 December 2015.

(Resolution 2)

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of $352,918 for the Financial Year ended 31 December  2015.  
(FY2014: $312,866)

(Resolution 3)

4. To re-elect Mr Sim Wing Yew, a Director retiring pursuant to Article 95(2) of the Company’s Articles 
of Association.

(Resolution 4)

5. To re-appoint Dr Ho Kah Leong, a Director who was previously re-appointed to hold office until the Thirty-Fifth 
Annual General Meeting of the Company pursuant to then Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

(Resolution 5)

6. To re-appoint Mr Sim Cheok Lim, a Director who was previously re-appointed to hold office until the Thirty-
Fifth Annual General Meeting of the Company pursuant to then Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

(Resolution 6)

7. To re-appoint Mr Ong Teong Wan, a Director who was previously re-appointed to hold office until the Thirty-
Fifth Annual General Meeting of the Company pursuant to then Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

(Resolution 7)

8. To re-appoint Mr Lim Jit Poh, a Director who was previously re-appointed to hold office until the Thirty-Fifth 
Annual General Meeting of the Company pursuant to then Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

(Resolution 8)

9. To re-appoint Mr Kua Hong Pak, a Director who was previously re-appointed to hold office until the Thirty-Fifth 
Annual General Meeting of the Company pursuant to then Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

(Resolution 9)

10. To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors and authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 10)
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Books Closure and Dividend Payment Dates 
NOTICE IS ALSO HEREBY GIVEN that the Transfer Books and Register of Members of the Company will be closed on 6 May 2016 for the 
purposes of determining Shareholders’ entitlements to the proposed tax-exempt one-tier final dividend of 9.5 cents per ordinary share and 
a tax-exempt one-tier special dividend of 10.25 cents per ordinary share for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2015.

Duly completed and stamped transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrars, B.A.C.S Private Limited, 8, Robinson Road, #03-00 
ASO Building, Singapore 048544 up to 5.00 p.m. on 5 May 2016 will be registered to determine Shareholders’ entitlements to the final and 
special dividends. Shareholders (being depositors) whose securities accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with 
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company as at 5.00 p.m. on 5 May 2016 will be entitled to the proposed final and special dividends.

The final and special dividends, if approved by the Shareholders at the Thirty-Fifth Annual General Meeting of the Company, will be paid 
on 12 May 2016.

By Order of the Board 

Chan Wan Tak, Wendy  
Company Secretary  
Singapore  
28 March 2016

Notes:
1          (a)	 A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote 

at the Annual General Meeting. Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than one proxy, the proportion of the 
shareholding concerned to be represented by each proxy shall be specified in the form of proxy.

(b)	 A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the Annual 
General Meeting, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by such 
member. Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than two proxies, the number and class of shares in relation to 
which each proxy has been appointed shall be specified in the form of proxy.

“Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

2	 A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies (a form is enclosed) must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at  
205 Braddell Road, Singapore 579701 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting.

Explanatory note:
Ordinary Resolutions 5 to 9, if respectively passed, will re-appoint the Directors mentioned in the respective Ordinary Resolutions as 
Directors of the Company. As the said Directors were re-appointed at the Thirty-Fourth Annual General Meeting of the Company to hold 
office until the Thirty-Fifth Annual General Meeting of the Company pursuant to the then Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50., 
the Ordinary Resolutions are to re-appoint them to continue in office as Directors of the Company.

Personal data privacy: 
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting 
and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal 
data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and 
representatives appointed for the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of 
the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and 
in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the 
“Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the 
Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and 
disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees 
that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the 
member’s breach of warranty.

Additional Information on Ordinary Business 
Dr Ho Kah Leong and Mr Ong Teong Wan are Members of the Audit and Risk Committee. They are considered independent Directors of the 
Company. If re-appointed, Dr Ho Kah Leong and Mr Ong Teong Wan will continue as Members of the Audit and Risk Committee respectively.



VICOM LTD
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore) 
(Co. Reg. No.: 198100320K)

PROXY FORM  
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

 
I/We    (Name)    (NRIC/Passport Number)

of    (Address)

being a member/members of VICOM Ltd (the “Company”) hereby appoint

Name Address NRIC/ 
Passport Number

Proportion of 
 Shareholding (%) (Note 2)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

or failing him/them, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us 
on my/our behalf, at the AGM of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 26 April 2016 and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/
our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to 
voting is given, the proxy/proxies may vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion, as he/they may on any other matter arising 
at the AGM.

NOTE: The Chairman of the AGM will be exercising his right under Article 63(i) of the Articles of Association of the Company to demand 
a poll in respect of the Resolutions to be put on the vote of the members at the AGM and at any adjournment thereof. Accordingly, such 
Resolutions at the AGM will be voted on by way of poll.

No. Resolutions No. of Votes For* No. of Votes Against*
1. Adoption of Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements
2. Declaration of Final and Special Dividends
3. Approval of Directors’ Fees
4. Re-election of Mr Sim Wing Yew as Director
5. Re-appointment of Dr Ho Kah Leong as Director
6. Re-appointment of Mr Sim Cheok Lim as Director
7. Re-appointment of Mr Ong Teong Wan as Director
8. Re-appointment of Mr Lim Jit Poh as Director
9. Re-appointment of Mr Kua Hong Pak as Director
10. Re-appointment of Auditors and authorising Directors to fix their remuneration

 
* If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against” the relevant Resolution, please tick (√) within the box provided. Alternatively, if you wish to 
exercise your votes for both “For” and “Against” the relevant Resolution, please indicate the number of shares in the boxes provided.

Dated this   day of   2016

 
 

Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

Should a member wish to receive acknowledgement of receipt of the Proxy Form from the Company, please provide your email address 
and/or mobile phone number.

Email Address:    Mobile Phone No: 

IMPORTANT
1.	 Relevant intermediaries as defined in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 may appoint more than two 

proxies to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting.
2.	 This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used 

or purported to be used by them.
3.	 CPF investors who intend to exercise the voting rights attached to their VICOM Ltd shares purchased using their 

CPF monies are requested to contact their respective CPF Approved Nominees.
4.	 By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees 

to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 28 March 2016.

Total Number of Shares Held (Note 1)



NOTES
1.	 A member should insert the total number of shares held. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register 

(maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited), he should insert that number of shares. If the member has shares registered in his name 
in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert that number of shares. If the member has shares entered against his name in the 
Depository Register and registered in his name in the Register of Members, he should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is 
inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by the member.

2.        (a)	 A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the meeting. 
Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than one proxy, the proportion of the shareholding concerned to be represented by 
each proxy shall be specified in the form of proxy.

(b)	 A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the meeting, but each 
proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by such member. Where such member’s form 
of proxy appoints more than two proxies, the number and class of shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed shall be 
specified in the form of proxy.

“Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

3.	 A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

4.	 Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at the Annual General 
Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the Annual General Meeting in person, and 
in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument of proxy, to the Annual 
General Meeting.

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 205 Braddell Road, Singapore 579701 not 
less than 48 hours before the time set for the Annual General Meeting.

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or under the hand of 
its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

7.	 Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified 
copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may 
be treated as invalid.

8.	 The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or 
where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the instrument. In addition, 
in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if the member, 
being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed 
for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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THE COMPANY SECRETARY 
VICOM Ltd 

205 Braddell Road 
Singapore 579701



All rights reserved. Some information in this 
Annual Report constitute ‘forward looking 
statements’, which reflect VICOM’s current 
intentions, plans, expectations, assumptions 
and beliefs about future events and are subject 
to risks, uncertainties and other factors, many 
of which may be outside VICOM’s control. 
You are urged to view all forward looking 
statements with caution. No information 
herein should be reproduced without the 
express written permission of VICOM Ltd. All 
information herein is correct at the time of 
publication. For updated information, please 
contact our Corporate Office.
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